# UC Davis UC Davis Electronic Theses and Dissertations

# Title

Application and Modification of a Wakasagi Hatching Box for Delta Smelt Propagation

**Permalink** https://escholarship.org/uc/item/2f92z4hf

# Author

Lee, Brandon Tze-Hung

# Publication Date

2023

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

Application and Modification of a Wakasagi Hatching Box for Delta Smelt Propagation

By

## BRANDON TZE-HUNG LEE THESIS

Submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree of

#### MASTER OF SCIENCE

in

**Biological Systems Engineering** 

in the

### OFFICE OF GRADUATE STUDIES

of the

## UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

#### DAVIS

Approved:

Tien-Chieh Hung, Chair

MD Shamin Ahamed

Zhongli Pan

Committee in Charge

#### Abstract

Delta smelt (Hypomesus transpacificus) (DS) are an endangered species of fish in the Osmeridae family. They are endemic to the Sacramento/San Joaquin Delta (Delta). This thesis explores the application of an Egg Frame Box (EFB) created by the Lake Suwa Fishing Collective (LSFC) as a means to hatch DS eggs into the Delta in an effort to reduce hatchery characteristics by investigating the fluid dynamics inside and around the EFB through computational fluid dynamics simulations and found that the water decelerates significantly before entering the EFB and further decelerates upon entering the EFB, to a suitable water flow velocity for DS egg incubation. Studying the effects of water temperatures on the hatching and survival rate of DS eggs adhered to the EFB found that temperature plays a significant role in the fertilization and survival of DS eggs, as well as showing that DS eggs can hatch at the water flow velocity found during simulations. Another study focused on testing how alternative egg frame material for the DS eggs to adhere to affects their hatching and survival rate and found that DS eggs can adhere to and hatch from the substrates tested in a similar rate as the egg frame from the LSFC, demonstrating that locally bought, biodegradable items can be used to as a substitute for the egg frame substrate. Last, we studied the effects of different humidities on DS eggs to evaluate how transporting the eggs outside of water will affect their hatching rate and found that DS eggs are extremely sensitive to being removed from their aquatic environment and should remain submerged throughout their transport to the deployment site. Overall, this thesis provides valuable insight into DS eggs in an effort to restore the wild population from its endangered status in the Delta.

ii

#### Acknowledgments

I would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to Professor Tien-Chieh Hung for his tutelage, encouragement, expertise, and patience. Your mentorship has been invaluable in shaping my research and helping me navigate the challenges of graduate school. I would also like to thank Dr. Will Mulvaney for his guidance and help on the temperature trials. I would also like to thank my lab mates at the Hung lab and the lab assistants, post-doctoral scholars, junior specialists, and managers at the Fish Conservation and Culture Laboratory, as well as my cohorts in the BAE department of UC Davis whose insights and camaraderie have made this academic journey all the more rewarding and nothing but fun. I must also acknowledge the funding support provided by USFWS grant #F19AC00944, which made this research possible. Without their financial assistance, this project would not have been feasible. Another big thank you to Toshi and Motoko Saka for their help in acquiring the EFB. Lastly, to my family and friends, your unwavering support and understanding during the long hours of research and writing have meant the world to me.

Table of Contents	
Abstract	i
Acknowledgments	iii
Chapter 1: General Introduction and Literature Review	1
1.1 The San Francisco Estuary	1
1.2 Delta Smelt Biology	4
1.3 Wakasagi	
1.4 Artificial Incubation of Fish Eggs	
Chapter 2: Fluid Dynamics Modeling of Water Interaction Within a Wakasag Box	i Egg Frame 20
2.1 Introduction	
2.1.1 Governing Equations	
2.1.2 Discretization	25
2.1.3 Turbulence Modeling	
2.1.4 Boundary and Initial Conditions	
2.1.5 CFD Software	
2.2 Methods	
2.2.1 Model Construction	
2.2.2 Model Development	
2.2.2 Simulation Parameters	
2.3 Results	
2.4 Discussion	
2.5 Conclusion	
Chapter 3: Temperature Effects on Delta Smelt Egg Hatching Using a Wakasa Box	agi Egg Frame 49
3.1 Introduction	
3.2 Methods	
3.2.1 Wakasagi Egg Frame Box	
3.2.2 Egg Fertilization and Attachment to the Egg Frames	
3.2.3 Egg Incubation Trials	
3.2.4 Data Collection	
3.2.5 Statistical Analyses	
3.3 Results	

3.4 Discussion	59
3.5 Conclusion	61
Chapter 4: Testing of Alternative Egg Frame Materials	63
4.1 Introduction	63
4.2 Methods	64
4.2.1 Statistical Analyses	
4.3 Results	68
4.4 Discussion	73
4.5 Conclusion	74
Chapter 5: Humidity Effects on the Delta Smelt Eggs	76
5.1 Introduction	76
5.2 Methods	77
5.2.1 Ambient Temperature and Humidity Inside the Egg Frame Box	77
5.2.2 Temperature and Humidity Trials on Delta Smelt Eggs	
5.2.4 Egg Hatching Determination	
5.2.5 Statistical Analyses	
5.3 Results	
5.4 Discussion	91
5.5 Conclusion	92
Chapter 6: Summary, Conclusion, and Recommendations	94
6.1 Summary	94
6.2 Conclusion	95
6.3 Recommendations	96
References	104
Appendix	109
Appendix A : R Code for Analyses	109
Chapter 3 Code	109
Chapter 4 Code	113
Chapter 5 Code	115

#### **Chapter 1: General Introduction and Literature Review**

#### **1.1 The San Francisco Estuary**

The San Francisco Estuary (SFE), combined with the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta (Delta), is the largest estuary on the West Coast (Davoren & Ayres, 1984). Starting from the west coast at the Golden Gate Bridge and reaching the Delta, the SFE consists of four smaller bays, Central Bay, South Bay, North Bay, and Suisun Bay, spanning over 1600 square miles and includes a variety of habitats like marshlands, tidal channels, and mudflats. It is an important ecological system that supports a diverse range of fishes, wildlife, and plant species. It also serves as a passage for shipping vessels and as a source of water for many parts of California. Many threats, including habitat and water flow regime alteration, invasive species, and water diversions, have affected aquatic organisms in the SFE (Bennett & Burau, 2015; Moyle et al., 2016; Sommer et al., 2007).

Communities living around the estuary, as well as the state of California, heavily rely on the estuary for food, water, and recreation. Cities in Southern California rely on the SFE as a water source, as a portion of the water is diverted using the California Aqueduct to supply water to the region (DWR Public Affairs Office, 2002). Two rivers that play a key role in the physical and ecological characteristics of the estuary are the Sacramento River and the San Joaquin River. These rivers are the largest rivers in California, and a substantial portion of them drain into the Central Valley. However, the SFE faces many challenges and threats, including habitat loss, pollution, and climate change. These threats have contributed to the decline of many fish species that live in the estuary like the delta smelt (*Hypomesus transpacificus*), longfin smelt (*Spirinchus thaleichthys*), chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*), steelhead trout (*Oncorhynchus*  *mykiss*), white sturgeon (*Acipenser transmontanus*), and green sturgeon (*Acipenser medirostris*) (Miller et al., 2012).

The SFE is continuously facing threats like climate change, sea level rises, drought, and invasive species (Poff et al., 1997). These problems have already caused severe damage to the ecosystem of the Delta and are expected to increase in the coming years. Climate change has a large effect on the fish population in the SFE. Rising temperatures, droughts, and random rainy seasons lead to alterations in the physical characteristics of the estuary like the salinity, water temperature, clarity, and habitat, which are critical for the development and survival of fishes. Climate change also affects the rise in sea level, further impacting the habitats and food web by allowing seawater to enter the inland water (Parker et al., 2011).

Invasive species are also a significant threat to native species of the SFE. Non-native species like the Asian clam (*Corbicula fluminea*) compete with native filter-feeding invertebrates for prey, the Chinese mitten crab (*Eriocheir sinensis*), which has a burrowing behavior that can damage riverbanks and levees, as well as the striped bass (*Morone saxatilis*), which prey on native fishes in the estuary.

There are many conservation efforts underway to restore the SFE. Habitat restoration has been a key focus of the conservation efforts for the estuary (Figure 1.1). One example of a habitat restoration project is the California EcoRestore program (EcoRestore). The multi-agency initiative, launched in 2015, focuses on restoring 30,000 acres of wetland and floodplains within the Delta, Suisun Marsh, and Yolo Bypass region by 2025. The project is led by the Department of Water Resources and currently involves 32 projects. A majority of the projects are focusing on actions supporting the long-term health of the Delta and its native fish and wildlife species. In 2006, the first project toward the 9,000-acre tidal wetland target broke ground and as of 2020,



Figure 1.1: Map of California Ecosystem Projects (California Eco Restore)

EcoRestore has nearly doubled the restored and protected habitat lands in the Delta with all planned tidal wetland projects expected to be under construction or completed.

The SFE is a vital ecosystem that supports a wide range of fish species, wildlife, and plants as well as the communities nearest to the estuary as well as the rest of the state of California. However, with the number of challenges that the estuary faces including the loss of habitat, pollution, climate change, and water diversion, these problems have caused a major decline in many native fish species like the delta smelt. Though conservation efforts, like habitat restoration and fishery management have been successful in addressing threats, it is important to continue research, monitoring, and effective management of the estuary and the native fish species to ensure the long-term health of the San Francisco estuary and the diverse food web for future generations.

#### **1.2 Delta Smelt Biology**

Delta smelt (DS) are an endangered species endemic to the Delta (Moyle, 2002). They are a small (5-7 cm), slender smelt, as seen in Figure 1.2, residing in the Osmeridae family (Moyle et al., 2018). DS are known as an indicator species of the health of the Delta (Hasenbein et al., 2013). They are usually a semelparous fish, most living only 1 year, with a few able to survive to age 2, consisting of a single distinct wild population that are usually found in the oligohaline. DS eggs are small (1 mm), transparent appearance, and possess an adhesive stalk that enables them to adhere onto substrates such as vegetation, sand, or gravel, preventing them from getting swept away by the water current as seen in Figure 1.3 (Lindberg et al., 2020). Then, larvae grow into juveniles in the spring and migrate into a low salinity zone in



Figure 1.2: Adult delta smelt (Photo credit: Marzieh Aghbolaghi. FCCL.)



Figure 1.3: Delta smelt egg with adhesive stalk (Photo Credit: Bradd Baskerville-Bridges, FCCL, 2017)

the summer. In the fall, the juveniles will start to mature, before swimming upstream into the estuary in the winter where they spawn multiple times, most likely on sandy beaches and other substrate for the eggs to stick on, and then die (Sommer et al., 2011). The other remains in the fresh tidal waters of the northern delta for their entire life (Moyle et al., 2018). Recent research from Hobbs et al., (2019) has revealed the presence of three distinct life-history phenotypes in DS including freshwater resident, brackish-water resident, and semi-anadromous DS that should be considered into future conservation and management efforts aimed at preventing the extinction of DS in the wild.

Usually following migration are substantial risks from natural sources, such as predation, starvation, and extreme climate, as well as anthropogenic sources, including hunting, fishing, and barricades (Sommer et al., 2011). As they are an annual fish, DS migration and spawning are the most important periods of their life cycles in terms of survival of the species. Thus, the existence and steadiness of the species depends on the successful spawning and migration of adult DS. This migration takes place in a highly sought out area of water, as the route must travel through the Delta, which is found in the upper east region of the SFE, to arrive at their spawning grounds.

DS are a weak swimming fish, using a stroke and glide style of swimming (Swanson et al., 1998). The majority of DS found in 2011 were semi-anadromous, where larval DS are reared in low salinity zones and migrate back to freshwater regions for spawning. This is believed to begin with the "first flush" of turbid water from land runoff after the first major winter rainstorm (Bennett & Burau, 2015; Sommer et al., 2011). Several studies have investigated the migration and distribution of DS during spawning season. Sommer et al., (2011) reported that DS migrate upstream to regions in Cache Slough. Murphy & Hamilton, (2013) supported their findings when they found an increase in DS density in Montezuma and Cache Slough and a decrease in Suisun

Bay during spawning season. Bennett & Burau, (2015) found that DS exploit tidal action to migrate upstream to their spawning grounds in the northern region of the Delta. Kurobe et al., (2022) found that during spawning season, mature DS are found in freshwater locations where the salinity is below 1.0. However, there are still aspects of DS migration that are not understood. For example, it is unclear whether DS have specific spawning grounds that they migrate to or whether they spawn in locations where water quality parameters are suitable. Specific requirements like substrate type and depth are also still unknown.

Though a once common fish in the delta, the decline of their population can be attributed to many different factors, ecological and anthropological (Miller et al., 2012). Since DS migrate from the brackish waters of the Delta into the freshwater of the Sacramento River to lay their eggs, their population faces critical threats when the waterways that connect their migration routes to their spawning grounds are altered. Significant factors like water diversion in their migration paths, climate change, and several historical droughts have confined the population of DS into a fraction of the habitat that they once easily traversed for many years (Moyle et al., 2016).

As an annual species, DS can experience significant shifts in their population from minor changes in their habitats. Thus, ecological, and anthropological factors such as long-lasting droughts and diversions of water runways that prevent DS from returning to their spawning grounds, can also have extremely detrimental effects to their populations. DS are low on the food web and are a prey species for many fish such as Chinook salmon, steelhead trout, striped bass, sturgeon, and many more species of fishes (Moyle et al., 1992). Their population has been on a steep decline in the last couple of decades and since, their numbers have dwindled enormously.

The International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN) Red List of Threatened Species, or IUCN Red list, one of the most extensive inventories of global conservation statuses for biological species (IUCN 2022). They employ a precise set of criteria, which are relative to each species and all regions, to evaluate the risk of extinction of thousands of species and subspecies. There are nine groups that species are categorized into based on rate of decline, population size, and other criteria. Potential for future threats is also considered in the classification of the conservation status of the species. DS are listed by the IUCN Red list as critically endangered, which is when a species is in a particular and extremely critical state when a species has a population size reduction, a reduction across a geographic range, a population decline, a very small population size, or probability of extinction.

In the past, DS were abundant in the upper Delta. Populations started declining dramatically in the 1980s. A key threat leading to the extinction of the species is a reduction across the geographic range of their native habitat, due to environmental changes. A large, historic drought all over the state of California ranging from 2012 to 2016, followed by an extremely wet 2017 has caused a large decline of DS (Boxall, 2017). Another environmental change that is continuing to contribute to the decline of DS is the diversion of water sources in Northern and Central California. The diversions created to supply water to civilization are cutting off migration routes used by adult DS from their spawning grounds (Moyle et al., 2018).

Since 1959 the California Department of Fish and Game (DFG) has been conducting annually the Summer Townet Survey (STN), which was designed to quantify the abundance of age 0 striped bass as well as collect DS data to analyze abundance, distribution, and habitat use. The STN sampled thirty-two historic stations ranging from eastern San Pablo Bay to Rio Vista on the Sacramento River as well as Stockton on the San Joaquin River. In 2011, the STN added

eight additional stations in Cache Slough and the Sacramento Deep Water Ship Channel. The STN begins sampling in mid-June using a conical net of 1.5 m<sup>2</sup> mouth and 2.5 mm cod-end mesh, which is towed obliquely through the water column.

The Fall Midwater Trawl Survey (FMWT) is an annual trawl conducted since 1967, initiated in the SFE to determine the relative abundance and distribution of young striped bass, but it also sampled other pelagic species in the upper estuary as well as DS. The FMWT samples 116 separate locations from September to December to calculate an annual abundance index. These sampling locations vary from areas covered by the STN like the San Pablo Bay to Stockton on the San Joaquin River, Hood on the Sacramento River, and the Sacramento Deep Water Ship Channel. The midwater trawl has mouth dimensions of 12 ft wide by 12 ft high with smaller dimensions in the mouth when under tension during a tow. These mesh sizes vary from 0.5 inch at the cod-ends and gradually increase in nine different sections until the largest mesh of eight inches. The FMWT was consistently used to conduct sampling of mature, adult DS, from 1991 until 2002, when it was replaced by the Spring Kodiak Trawl.

The Spring Kodiak Trawl Survey (SKT) is a yearly survey that takes place from January to May with the purpose of determining the relative abundance and distribution of adult DS during the time they ripen and spawn (Sommer et al., 2011). Starting from January or February, the SKT samples thirty-nine separate locations from the Napa River upstream from the Suisun Bay and the Delta. A 10-minute surface sample is conducted at each location, by two boats towing a 7.6 m wide by 1.8 m high Kodiak trawl. The mesh sizes vary from 5.1 cm knotted stretched mesh at the mouth of the net, 1.3 cm in five panels, and 0.6 cm knotless stretched mesh at the cod end. The DS collected in the survey are counted, measured, and then categorized into groups in terms of six spawning condition categories.

The Fish Conservation and Culture Laboratory (FCCL), located in Byron, California, is a research and education facility that has been a part of the Biological and Agricultural engineering department of the University of California, Davis since 1996. The main goals of the laboratory are to maintain a refuge population of DS in captivity that is very genetically close to the wild population as a safeguard against extinction (Hung et al., 2019). The FCCL also houses and maintains a research population used for collaborative research with researchers from different agencies and institutions, providing fishes of all life stages. The FCCL is focused on developing and implementing effective strategies for improving the survival and hatching rate of cultured DS at their labs. They have also started housing and conducting research on wakasagi and longfin smelt. As of the last couple of years, the FCCL has added as well as renovated existing facilities to increase the capacity for culture and research purposes. They also provides tours and educational programs for the general public, school groups, and community organizations. The FCCL has a significant role in the conservation efforts to conserve and restore the native fish populations in the Delta.

#### 1.3 Wakasagi

Wakasagi (*Hypomesus nipponensis*) *also* known as the Japanese smelt, are a Japanese commercial food fish, found widely in lakes and estuaries in Japan, such as Honshu, and Hokkaido, as well as in parts of North and South Korea, Russia, and the Delta. They are a small, thin fish, also in the Osmeridae family. They are usually around 10-20 cm long (Figure 1.3), and have a cylindrical, slender body and a pointy snout. They look very similar to DS. In fact, wakasagi and DS both share very similar biological characteristics (Swanson et al., 2000). Wakasagi have short life cycles, and they typically live for 1 or 2 years, and are able to spawn multiple times in one season (Sasaki et al., 2003).



Figure 1.3: Adult wakasagi. (Photo credit: Marzieh Aghbolaghi. FCCL.)

Wakasagi typically spawn in flowing water, with adults from coastal populations as well as freshwater lake populations often swimming into rivers to spawn. The eggs each come with an adhesive stalk so that the eggs can adhere to submerged vegetation and keep from getting carried out by the water current (Peterson et al., 2021). Lake spawning in landlocked lakes and reservoirs are likely to occur as well, although it has now to scientifically described yet. After hatching, the larval fish stay in the shallow water currents. When they then grow into juvenile fish and start to swim on their own accord into shallow waters to feed on plankton and other small organisms like Copepoda, Rotifera, Cladocera, and Ostracoda, just like DS (Peterson et al., 2021). Factors such as warmer water temperatures and higher levels of prey species can accelerate the growth of wakasagi. Typically, when wakasagi usually reach adulthood, they will migrate from the deep waters to shallower areas near shores to spawn their eggs onto vegetation.

Wakasagi were introduced to the Delta in 1959 by the California Department of Fish and Game for stocking in upper California reservoirs and streams to serve as prey trout and salmon (Davis et al., 2022). Being a non-native species that thrives in the Delta makes wakasagi an invasive species. An invasive species refers to a non-native species that has been introduced into an ecosystem with the ability to establish and spread rapidly, causing ecological, economic, or social harm to the surrounding ecosystem. It is a term usually used to describe non-native species that have negative effects on the ecosystem. Wakasagi and DS share many ecological similarities, including overlapping habitats and food resources and thus, will compete for these resources. Wakasagi and DS share many ecological similarities, including overlapping habitats and food resources and thus, will compete for these resources and thus, will compete for these resources (Peterson et al., 2021).

The Lake Suwa Fishing Collective (LSFC) is an organization in Japan that manages and regulates fishing activities in Lake Suwa. This organization consists of local fishing businesses

as well as fishermen. They set rules and regulations for fishing in Lake Suwa and are responsible for promoting sustainable fishing practices and preserving the ecosystem. To supply the demand of wakasagi to Japanese fishermen, the LSFC created an egg holding device that houses fertilized wakasagi eggs. This device, known as an egg frame box (EFB), is designed to hold numerous egg frames that the wakasagi eggs adhere to. Given their similarities in life cycles, egg spawning, and adhesion qualities, it is reasonable to assume that the EFB deployed by the LSFC could potentially be adapted for introducing newly hatched larval DS into the Delta.

#### **1.4 Artificial Incubation of Fish Eggs**

The practice of using egg incubators for fish egg incubation has created a significant improvement in large scale aquaculture operations. These devices can be used for many different fishes in aquaculture as a method for fish reproduction. Fish egg incubation has an especially vital role for the aquaculture industry and the use of frames for fish egg incubation has been a significant part of aquaculture, mainly in large scale operations. With the ability to control and optimize environmental conditions such as water temperature, salinity, water quality, oxygen levels, etc., incubation methods have ensured higher hatching and survival rates for fish eggs. This has led to more sustainable and efficient techniques to produce fish.

The gentle flow of water provides oxygen exchange for the eggs and helps keep bacteria from proliferating on them(Watson & Chapman, 1996). Fish egg incubators can be classified into three major types based primarily on the density of the eggs to be hatched, their stickiness, and the sensitivity of the eggs: egg frames, trays, and conical incubators.

A tray-type incubator (Figure 1.4) consists of a container that has a screen through which a flow of water permeates to supply the eggs with oxygen and flush away waste products. They are often designed so that water penetrates the tray from below and flows out over the upper



Figure 1.4: MariSource 8-tray Vertical Incubator for Salmon (Photo Credit: MariSource)

edge. Since the eggs lay over a screen, tray-type incubators are ideal for fish eggs that can be injured by movement during incubation. The newly hatched larvae can drop through the screen holes minimizing handling and removal of the eggshells. can also be placed outside the spawning tank and then used as incubators.

Conical shaped tanks (Figure 1.5) are usually for fish eggs that are non-adhesive and require constant movement where water flows into the bottom or top of the container. In this type of incubator, the eggs are gently suspended, and the flow of water constantly tumbles the eggs in the lower portion of the cone. The flowing water ensures that well oxygenated water is constantly being replaced in the incubator and the tumbling of the eggs keeps them from collecting debris which can lead to fungal infections. These types of incubators can be set in series above a catching tank, where the hatched larvae pour out of the incubators as they hatch and flow into the tank.

Egg frames (Figure 1.6) are usually for adhesive eggs. By simulating a spawning, they serve as egg collectors and provide a place for egg attachment. Frames consist of bundles of fibrous material arranged in a variety of forms and made from a variety of varied materials like plastic shreds, air filters, moss, tree fibers, horse hairs, and other thin materials. Typically, egg frames are suspended in the water column or laid along the bottom or sides of the spawning container. Some egg frames have a grid structure or have a mesh on the bottom of them to allow for better oxygen exchange for the eggs. The size of the grid/mesh depends on the size of the fish eggs. As oxygen exchange and water flow are a crucial factor in multiple aspects of successful egg hatching, the placement of the frames is crucial to allow water to flow over the eggs. Regular maintenance of the frames is crucial for the health of the eggs, as accumulation of dead eggs or



Figure 1.5: Conical shaped tanks at the FCCL (Photo Credit: FCCL)



Figure 1.6: Egg frame from the Lake Suwa Fishing Collective (Photo Credit: Lake Suwa Fishing Collective)

detritus can lead to fungus proliferation and can impact the health of the remaining eggs. Egg frames are designed to hold fish eggs in place while allowing water to flow over them. Traditional methods rely on using natural bodies of water to deploy the egg frames, while more advanced practices employ tanks specially designed as incubators with controlled environments.

However, there is an unorthodox egg frame used in Japan by the Lake Suwa Fishing Collective (LSFC) for supplementing lakes with wakasagi. Due to its immense popularity as a recreational activity in Japan, every year, wakasagi are replenished using a variety of creative methods. Wakasagi support a thriving commercial freshwater fishery that is sustained through an aquaculture program, with annual hatchery releases exceeding ten billion eggs and newly hatched larvae into lakes and reservoirs (Davis et al., 2022).

A method that is particularly intriguing for DS population rehabilitation in the wild is the one devised by the LSFC, which uses an EFB containing 32 gg frames made out of palm tree fiber that can hold fertilized wakasagi eggs as a method to replenish the wild population, as seen in figure 1.6. The LSFC utilize the adhesive stalk of wakasagi eggs to secure them onto the mesh of the egg frame during incubation. The frames are kept at the LSFC facility for 7-8 days during incubation to maintain and care for the eggs. Maintenance includes removing fungus and dead eggs from the egg frames. Prior to hatching, the egg frames are transferred into the EFB, which is then covered by a polypropylene tarp. The boxes are transported by car and deployed into various lakes and rivers throughout Japan (LSFC, n.d., section 6). The frame should strategically be positioned at the mouth of the body of water with shallow, slow flowing water (LSFC, n.d., section 6). This allows the water to flow into the slits of the EFB and over the eggs attached to the egg frames. As the larval wakasagi hatch, the water current carries them into their natural environment, as if naturally incubated and hatched in the wild.

## **Chapter 2: Fluid Dynamics Modeling of Water Interaction Within a Wakasagi Egg Frame Box**

#### **2.1 Introduction**

Delta smelt (DS), a species of fish that are endemic to the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta (Delta), are facing an imminent threat of extinction. The factors contributing to their demise are numerous, including climate change and habitat loss (Sommer et al., 2007). In response, significant efforts have been set in motion to conserve and rehabilitate the species. One such initiative is the UC Davis Fish Conservation and Culture Laboratory (FCCL) in Byron, CA, which hosts a breeding program to provide researchers with healthy DS for studies. The FCCL also houses a refuge population of DS with genotypes similar to their wild counterparts (Lindberg et al., 2013). They are also collaborating with several different agencies to test methods to introduce DS from the laboratory in the Delta.

One of these approaches involves the use of an egg frame box (EFB, Figure 2.1a) to hatch larval DS directly into the waters. Originally developed by the Lake Suwa Fishing Collective (LSFC), an organization that manages and regulates the fishing activities of Lake Suwa, Japan, as a method to repopulate the lake with wakasagi (*Hypomesus nipponensis*), which are a popular recreation fish for many Japanese fishermen. The EFB consists of the box, the lid, and the egg frames that fit inside the box. All of the EFB is made out of palm tree (*Cycas revoluta*) and the inside of the egg frames is made with palm tree fibers so that eggs can adhere to the frame more efficiently and water can flow through the frames inside the EFB. The EFB consists of two components: the wooden frame box with the lid and egg frames



Figure 2.1: Wakasagi (a) EFB with (b) slots to secure egg frames and (c) egg frame purchased from the Lake Suwa Fishing Collective. (Photo credit: Will Mulvaney, FCCL).

held together using small nails. The EFB is a rectangular enclosure constructed with sturdy wooden slats. The base of the box is solid, providing a secure foundation, while the sides are made up of vertically aligned slats with uniform gaps between them, allowing for water circulation. The top of the box features a set of parallel wooden slats affixed to a frame, which are used to hold or support the egg frames substrates for the eggs to adhere to during incubation. These slats are spaced evenly to ensure each egg receives equal exposure to the water's oxygen while also permitting light penetration. Around the slats on the top frame, there is a thicker border frame, reinforcing the structure and providing rigidity. This frame is essential for maintaining the shape of the box and preventing warping or damage when immersed in water. There are wooden slots inside the EFB that hold the thirty-two egg frames vertically inside the box, as depicted in Figure 2.1a. These frames were made with palm tree (*Cycas revoluta*) bark fibers (Figure 2.1b) through the middle that fish eggs with adhesive stalks can stick to. This screen is a crucial element of the box's internal structure, providing a substrate for the adhesive sacs of sticky eggs to attach. When in the field, the EFB is anchored in place near the shore of a lake with weights on top of it to keep it under the water surface.

As DS and wakasagi have eggs that are similar sizes (>1 mm) and the two species are very similar, it would be plausible to use the EFB in the Delta for DS species rehabilitation in their natural habitat (Benjamin et al., 2018; Fisch et al., 2014; Xie & Li, 1987). These similar qualities could make it possible to use the EFB as a method to introduce newly hatched larval DS into the Delta. One way to evaluate the device is by using Computational Fluid Dynamics (CFD) simulations, which can be a very efficient and cost-saving tool in studying the effectiveness of an EFB in rehabilitating the DS population in the Delta. Through simulations of the Delta conditions and analysis of the hydrodynamics inside the EFB under those conditions, researchers

can identify potential challenges and optimize its efficacy for incubating and hatching DS eggs. Additionally, simulations can help to identify the best deployment strategies for the EFB, such as where to release the frames into the Delta and when would be the right time to deploy the EFB. With the aid of simulations, researchers can increase the likelihood of success for the EFB in rehabilitating the DS population and protecting the species from extinction.

CFD is a field in applied mathematics and engineering involving numerical simulations and analysis of fluid flows and related applications using computers to solve fluid flow problems. It is able to simulate and analyze the behavior of fluids in a wide range of applications, like aerodynamics, hydrodynamics, chemical reactions, heat transfer, and many more. CFD has been used as an application for many experiments regarding fluid dynamics. Shen & Diplas, (2008) conducted experiments using CFD to model two and three dimensional CFD models of complex ecological stream flows. They also conducted experiments to validate their simulations. Rajabzadeh et al., (2015) conducted a study focusing on the flow dynamics, development, and wastewater treatment in a subsurface vertical flow wetland mesocosm. They employed CFD as a tool to analyze and simulate the various processes occurring in this wetland system. Kolden et al., (2016) also conducted simulations to model the whitewater park hydraulics and fish habitat in Colorado. Dong et al., (2009) created models for the float collar of a gravity fish cage to simulate the motion effects and tension on the lines from different waves of various heights, curls, and widths. They also validated the simulations with physical model experiments, concluding that their computational method can correctly predict the relationship between waves and the movement of the float collar and the tension of the mooring ropes. Liu et al., (2019) studied the structural strength and failure of a floating collar in a single-point mooring fish cage and were able to quantify.

The basic principles of CFD starts with discretizing the model domain into a grid of cells, also known as the mesh. Governing equations are then used to iteratively solve the behavior of the fluid flow dynamics simulations. When CFD simulations are used correctly, these simulations can be used for many applications to conduct simulations that would more cost and time saving compared to conducting an actual experiment.

Since the EFB was made for water conditions for Wakasagi in Japan, what is not known is what will happen inside the EFB when placed inside the Delta. Thus, to study the fluid interactions within the EFB when it is applied in the field here, a CFD simulation was created to model the effects using water flow velocities found in the Delta. The objective for this chapter is to use CFD simulations to analyze the water interactions within the EFB using water flow velocities found in the Delta.

#### **2.1.1 Governing Equations**

One of the main concepts of CFD is the governing equations. For the simulations conducted for this thesis, the most fundamental equation used is the Navier-Stokes equations (NS equations) which govern the motion of fluids. The NS equations are nonlinear equations used to mathematically describe the conservation of mass, momentum, and energy for a fluid in a continuum. These equations can be used in many applications, including hydrodynamics, biomedical engineering, and aerodynamics to predict and understand fluid flow. In vector form, the equations are:

$$\frac{\partial \rho}{\partial t} + \nabla \cdot (\rho u) = 0$$
$$\rho \left( \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} + u \cdot \nabla u \right) = -\nabla p + \mu \nabla^2 u + f$$

The first equation is the continuity equation, which states that the rate of change of fluid density  $(\rho, \text{kg/m}^3)$  with respect to time (t, s) plus the divergence of the mass flux  $(\rho u)$  is equal to zero. The second equation, the momentum equation, represents the conservation of momentum in a fluid flow. It describes how the velocity field (u) evolves over time due to various forces, including pressure gradients  $(-\nabla p)$ , viscous forces  $(\mu \nabla^2 u)$ , and external forces (f). In both equations, u is the velocity vector (m/s), p is the pressure (Pa),  $\mu$  is the dynamic viscosity (Pa·s),  $\nabla$  represents the gradient operator, and  $\nabla^2$  is the Laplacian operator. The NS equations are particularly challenging to solve analytically. These equations are fundamental in fluid dynamics and are used to simulate fluid flows in various engineering and physical contexts.

#### **2.1.2 Discretization**

In order to solve the governing equations numerically, they must first be initially discretized into simpler, algebraic equations that can be solved through computational methods. This is usually achieved using Finite Difference (FDM), Finite Elements (FEM), or Finite Volume Methods (FVM). These methods involve converting the NS equations into algebraic equations by dividing the computational domain into a finite number of discrete cells/elements. The equations are then solved by approximating the solution variables at the center of the cells/elements. Each method has its own advantages and disadvantages, so the choice of the numerical method depends on the specific problem being investigated.

The FDM is used to approximate the derivatives in the NS equation using a set of discrete points or nodes. These solution variables at each node are approximated by the values of the neighboring nodes. This method is simple to implement but usually does not produce the most accurate results, especially for complex geometries and non-uniform shapes. As there are not

complex geometries or non-uniform shapes modeled in this simulation, for the topics covered in this thesis, the FDM method is used.

The FEM approximates the solution variables using finite elements. Each element is defined using a set of nodes and shape functions, describing the variation of the solution within that element. The solution variables are approximated as linear combinations of those shape functions within each element. This method is more flexible than the FDM and can solve more complex geometries but is more computationally intensive.

The FVM solves the governing equations by dividing the computational domain into a set of finite control volumes. The solution variables used are averaged for each control volume, while the fluxes found at the boundaries of each control volume are calculated using interpolation or numerical integration. This method is more useful for simulating flows with shocks or discontinuities because it preserves the mass, energy, and momentum of the fluid.

#### 2.1.3 Turbulence Modeling

Turbulence modeling is the construction and use of a mathematical model in predicting the effects of turbulence in a simulation. Turbulence in CFD is described as a chaotic and random behavior of fluid dynamics. The propensity of an incompressible flow to become turbulent can be measured by the Reynolds number:

$$Re = \frac{\rho UL}{\mu}$$

where U is the velocity of the incoming water (m/s),  $\rho$  is the density of the water (kg/m<sup>3</sup>), L is the characteristic length (m), and  $\mu$  is the dynamic viscosity of the water. These fluid movements are influenced by the shape of the object that the fluid is flowing over. A high Re (>2300) indicates that a flow is turbulent, while a lower Re (<2300) would indicate the laminar nature of a flow.

The fluid motion under these conditions on COMSOL Multiphysics (COMSOL Inc., Stockholm, Sweden) were expressed using the Reynolds-Averaged Navier-Stokes' equation (RANS equation), which is the most commonly used model in industrial flow applications:

$$\rho(u \cdot \nabla)u = \nabla \cdot [-pI + K] + F + \rho g$$
$$\rho \nabla \cdot u = 0$$

where K is the stress tensor for a Newtonian fluid, encompassing both viscous and turbulent stresses:

$$K = (\mu + \mu_T)(\nabla u + (\nabla u)^T).$$

Here, K is the total stress tensor,  $\mu$  is the dynamic viscosity of the fluid, representing the fluid's resistance to shear or viscous stress,  $\mu_T$  is the eddy viscosity (turbulent viscosity), which is a property of the flow and not the fluid, representing the increased effective viscosity due to turbulent eddies,  $\nabla u$  is the velocity gradient tensor, and  $(\nabla u)^T$  is the transpose of the velocity gradient tensor, accounting for the fact that the stress tensor is symmetric. The transport equations for the turbulent kinetic energy (k) and its rate of dissipation ( $\epsilon$ ), which are specific to the k- $\epsilon$  model:

$$\rho(u \cdot \nabla)k = \nabla \cdot \left[ \left( \mu + \frac{\mu_T}{\sigma_k} \right) \nabla k \right] + P_k - \rho \epsilon$$
$$\rho(u \cdot \nabla)\epsilon = \nabla \cdot \left[ \left( \mu + \frac{\mu_T}{\sigma_\epsilon} \right) \nabla \epsilon \right] + C_{\epsilon_1} \frac{\epsilon}{k} P_k - C_{\epsilon_2} \frac{\epsilon^2}{k} P_k$$

Where,  $\mu_T$ , the turbulent viscosity, is computed as

$$\mu_T = \rho C_\mu \frac{k^2}{\epsilon}$$

And the turbulent kinetic energy production, P<sub>k</sub>, is given by:

$$P_k = \mu_T [\nabla u: (\nabla u + (\nabla u)^T)]$$

The k-ɛ model equations are used to close the RANS equations by providing expressions for the turbulent viscosity and the production of turbulent kinetic energy. These equations, together with the momentum and continuity equations, allow for the calculation of the time-averaged flow fields in turbulent flow conditions. The k-ɛ model is widely used in CFD due to its robustness and reasonable accuracy for a wide range of turbulent flows. The continuity equation of the equation in the form, with the assumption that the fluid is incompressible and Newtonian in which case the Navier-Stokes equations as seen in section 2.1.1. Turbulence modeling is one of the most important aspects of CFD simulations because turbulence plays an important role in many fluid flow problems, including blood flow in the cardiovascular system. Some other examples of turbulence modeling used in CFD are the Large Eddy Simulation (LES) models and the Direct Numerical Simulation (DNS) models. For the topics covered in this thesis, RANS simulations are used to create these simulations. These models are required because the NS equations are unable to predict the behavior of turbulence.

RANS models are simulated by averaging the NS equations over time and space, while separating the mean flow properties, like the velocity and pressure from the turbulent fluctuations. RANS equations require closure models to account for the effects of turbulence in the average flow properties, which are based on statistical assumptions and experimental data. This can introduce some uncertainties into a simulation model which can cause some errors in the simulation results. Because of this, it is important that the user chooses the model depending on the specific application and the level of accuracy that is required when creating a simulation. It is also important that the simulation can be validated using experimental data and that it can be calibrated to match the experimental results.

#### 2.1.4 Boundary and Initial Conditions

In CFD, boundary conditions are used to specify the behavior of the fluid flow variables at the boundaries of the computational domain. Boundary conditions are an essential aspect of turbulence modeling as they define the behavior of the flow at the boundaries of the computational domain. They show how different elements with different physical properties can interact with each other. These boundary conditions are necessary for solving governing equations for fluid dynamics like the NS equation and obtaining a numerical solution accurately so that it represents the physical system that is being simulated. There are three main classifications of boundary conditions: Dirichlet, Neumann, and mixed boundary conditions.

Dirichlet boundary conditions, also known as fixed-value boundary conditions, specify the values of the solution variables at the boundary of the computational domain. They are used to specify the exact value of the solution variables at the boundary. Examples of Dirichlet boundary conditions used in CFD are the no-slip condition, which is used to model fluid flow near a solid boundary. In the no-slip boundary condition, the fluid velocity at the boundary is set to 0 m/s. Other common Dirichlet boundary conditions are the inlet and outlet conditions which are used to specify the fluid velocity, pressure, and other flow variables at the inlet/outlet of the computational domain.

The Neumann Boundary Conditions, also known as the free-value boundary condition, are used to specify the value of the normal derivative of the solution variables at the boundary of the computational domain. They are used to specify the rate of change of the solution variables at

the boundary, like the rate of heat transfer at the boundary. An example of the Neumann boundary conditions in CFD are the wall heat flux condition, which is used to model the transfer of heat from a fluid to a solid wall with a known heat flux. Another example is the wall shear stress condition which is used to model the effects of friction from fluid flow on a solid wall, with a known shear stress. Complex structures may be simplified to reduce computational effort, assuming that the simplifications do not affect the flow field significantly.

The Mixed Boundary Conditions are a combination of the Dirichlet and Neumann boundary conditions. They are used to specify the values of both the values of the solution variables and their normal derivatives at the boundary of the computational domain.

Just like there are different types of discretization that the user can choose based on the specific problem that is being simulated, the user should take into consideration the type of problem that they are simulating when considering the type of boundary conditions to use in CFD simulations, since incorrect boundary conditions can lead to erroneous results and inaccurate simulations.

#### 2.1.5 CFD Software

CFD software are computer programs that are used to perform numerical simulations for fluid dynamics phenomena. A CFD software usually include pre-processing, solving, and postprocessing tools that allow the user to generate and analyze simulations.

The pre-processing tools used in CFD software are used to create the geometry of the model and to set up initial and boundary conditions for the simulations. This process starts with defining the geometry of the flow domain like the shape of the object and volume of the fluid, as well as specifying the physical properties of the fluid, for example, the density, temperature, and viscosity of the fluid. This process is also where the discretization of the model, in the form of
generating a mesh, where the fluid domain is divided into discrete cells for the numerical solution of the governing equations. The user should decide the size of the mesh to be simulated based on where deformations or stresses occur. Those mesh areas should be more refined than other regions where deformation and stress is less likely to occur. Too coarse of a mesh can result in inaccuracies in the obtained results. Having smaller mesh element sizes in places with large deformations, stresses, and instabilities will allow for greater accuracy, without expending a large amount of computing time. Thus, it is especially important to assign the correct mesh size for each aspect of the model domain.

The solving aspect of CFD uses numerical algorithms to find solutions for the governing equations. This part of the software is especially important because it is when the user must select the correct numerical algorithms based on the type of simulation that is being conducted.

The post-processing tools in CFD software are used to analyze the results of a simulation. This allows the user to picture the results of the simulation in various aspects, such as plots, charts, and animations. They can also be used to extract quantitative information from the simulation, like the flow rates, pressure distribution, and the temperature profile.

There are many different commercial and open-source CFD software available to choose from, each with their own features as well as pros and cons. Popular commercial CFD software include COMSOL Multiphysics, ANSYS Fluent, and STAR-CCM+. Some open-source CFD software are SU2, Code\_Saturne, and OpenFOAM. It is important for the user to consider factors such as user-friendliness of the software UI, the availability of the support and training needed, and the accuracy of the numerical algorithms of each software. For this study, COMSOL Multiphysics was used. COMSOL Multiphysics is a popular software program used in a variety of fields including fluid dynamics. It is well-known for its ability to manage Multiphysics

problems to solve phenomena that involve multiple fields of physics. It also has a very userfriendly UI, making it easier to create complex simulations compared to coding.

#### 2.2 Methods

Simulations were conducted using a CFD software, COMSOL Multiphysics version 5.6 using a Lenovo ThinkPad P52s laptop (Lenovo Group Limited, Quarry Bay, Hong Kong). The EFB was purchased from the Lake Suwa Fishing Collective (LSFC). Measurements of the EFB and egg frames were conducted at the FCCL.

## **2.2.1 Model Construction**

The EFB (Figure 2.1a) used by the LSFC is a 1 m length  $\times$  0.44 m height  $\times$  0.2 m width rectangular structure, composed of wooden blocks and planks made of palm fiber. Inside the EFB is where the egg frames are stored. As many as 32 egg frames (38 cm length  $\times$  19 cm height  $\times$  1.3 cm width, Figure 2.1b) can be held inside the EFB, separated by smaller blocks. The screen of the egg frame is made of palm bark fibers as a substrate for the eggs to adhere to. This also allows water to pass through the pores within the screen to create more aeration for the eggs and this important characteristic should be considered when creating the model for simulation. The design of the EFB is made to facilitate the passage of water through between the gaps in the wooden planks to aerate the eggs by creating a smooth flow over the eggs as seen in the diagrams in Figure 2.2.

To model the flow of water through the pores in the egg frames, the middle of the egg frames was simulated as a permeable material. The EFB manual created by the LSFC also included specific parameters for deployment of the EFB (LSFC, n.d., section 6). These parameters require that the water at the deployment site have no suspended particles, exhibit low

turbidity, and should be positioned within flows that are under 60 cm/s while being securely anchored to prevent it from drifting out from the water current. Additionally, the EFB should be appropriately weighted to ensure that all eggs on the frames within the EFB remain submerged beneath the water. These parameters were considered when creating the CFD model for simulating the water flow velocity inside the EFB.

#### **2.2.2 Model Development**

The measurements of the EFB and the egg frames were gathered and entered COMSOL's geometry which can be seen in Figure 2.3 and 2.4. In the simulation, the EFB was positioned adjacent to the bank of a flowing body of water. For the material of the EFB and the egg frames, the physical properties of American Red Oak (*Quercus rubra*) were assigned. For the mesh of the egg frames, the physical properties of nylon were assigned. All materials and the parameters can be seen on Table 2.1. Additional physical properties considered was the environment that the EFB model was simulated in. For this, the properties of water were assigned for the entire arena as a boundary, while the physical properties of brick were assigned to the floor of the arena.



Figure 2.2: (a) The diagram used to construct models for CFD simulations (LSFC, n.d., section6). (b) Horizontal view of simulation replicating the diagrams.



Figure 2.3: Life sized model for the EFB created on COMSOL Multiphysics.



Figure 2.4: Life sized model for the egg frame created on COMSOL Multiphysics.

Material	Property	Variable	Value	Unit
American Red Oak	Density	ρ	630	kg/m³
	Young's modulus	Е	12.4e9	Pa
	Poisson's ratio	ν	0.3	
Concrete	Density	ρ	2300	kg/m³
	Young's modulus	E	25e9	Pa
	Poisson's ratio	ν	0.2	
Nylon	Density	ρ	1150	kg/m³
	Young's modulus	Е	2e9	Pa
	Poisson's ratio	ν	0.4	

Table 2.1: Table of materials and properties used in simulation.

The EFB is deployed near the bank of a shallow, flowing body of water, held in place by weights, and anchored in place by a stake ((LSFC, n.d., section 6, Figure 2.2a). Accordingly, the simulation also replicated the stationary placement of the EFB in its location. Flow rates of 20 and 60 cm/s, which represent the lower and upper limit of the recorded flow velocity range recorded at the river where the wakasagi egg frames are deployed, respectively, were used to run the simulations (LSFC, n.d., section 6).

For the simulations in this project, it is assumed that at the inlet, a uniform inlet velocity profile based on water velocity given from the LSFC egg hatching manual. The water velocity used for the inlet velocity parameter was assumed from the data gathered from the water station near Cache Slough, where fertile female DS have been found. The water is assumed to be an incompressible, isothermal, steady state flow to help simplify simulation computation time. The model is also simplified by modelling the arena based off of the figures found in the LSFC egg hatching manual. The no-slip condition is applied at the walls of the EFB, which specifies the velocity of the fluid at the boundary will have zero velocity relative to the boundary, meaning the fluid velocity at the wall is zero.

#### **2.2.2 Simulation Parameters**

The steady, incompressible flow was created by a restricted momentum source going through the front portion of the EFB was assumed. Other assumptions include the wall boundary conditions assigned at the bottom, inner, and outer walls of the EFB, while symmetric boundary conditions were assigned to the water surface. The inlet boundary conditions were set as the long side facing the EFB, facing the side of the EFB that the water would be entering from, while the outlet boundary conditions were set as facing the opposite side facing the side of the EFB where the water is exiting as seen in Figure 2.2.





Figure 2.5: Created geometries of the EFB with egg frames placed inside (top) and the arena used for the simulation (Bottom).



Figure 2.6: Mesh diagram of the (a) model for the simulations and the (b) egg frame box with (c) properties of EFB and the arena.

After creating the geometry and assigning the relevant physical properties to the model as seen in Figure 2.5, the next step in designing the model is to construct the mesh. The mesh of the computational volume is composed of tetrahedral elements that were automatically generated under user-specified settings on COMSOL Multiphysics by either assigning the mesh manually or utilizing the automatic mesh assignment feature using the software. For this simulation, the mesh assigned to create this simulation was finer for the EFB and its immediate surroundings, while a coarser mesh was assigned for the remaining parts of the modeled environment, considering the significance of simulating that specific mesh section would be (Figure 2.6). For the EFB, the maximum element size was 4.54 cm, and the minimum element size was 0.86 cm, with a maximum element growth rate of 1.13, a curvature factor of 0.5 and a resolution of 0.8 for the narrow regions. For the modeled environment, the maximum element size was 6 cm, with a maximum element growth rate of 1.4, a curvature factor of 1 and a resolution of 0.3 for the narrow regions. The final constructed mesh consists of 1,804,125 domain elements, 346,454 boundary elements, and 41,277 edge elements.

The inlet chosen corresponds to the side of the simulation through which water should enter though the front of the box and exit from the back of the box, directing towards the outlet positioned at the opposite side of the inlet in the simulation. Once the inlet and outlet have been defined, the simulation can be used to model conditions from various water flow velocities. The water velocity deducted from the simulations are given in three spatial axes representing how the velocity is distributed in each direction: X-direction (u), Y-direction (v), and Z-direction (w). To consolidate the three-dimensional velocity vectors into a single magnitude, several locations in the EFB simulation are randomly selected, and the 3D velocity magnitude is calculated using the formula:

$$Velocity = \sqrt{u^2 + v^2 + w^2}$$

Using this information, the magnitude of the flow velocity inside the EFB can be found in Table 2.2.

## **2.3 Results**

After the simulation has been conducted, a clear pattern emerges in how the water behaves as it approaches and interacts with the EFB. As illustrated in Figures 2.7 and 2.8, the water enters the model through the inlet and then flows at a uniform stream towards the EFB. The water enters the EFB through the aligned slats in the front and interacts with the interior structure of the EFB and the egg frames. The water flows between the mesh of the egg frames in the EFB because it is porous. Afterwards, the water exits the EFB through the aligned slats in the back of the EFB and flows into the outlet at the end of the model.

It can be further seen that when the water enters at the given inlet velocity, the water's velocity experiences significant deceleration. In the case of the simulation with 60 cm/s inlet velocity (Figure 2.7), the water depreciated as low as 10 cm/s. In the case of the 20 cm/s inlet velocity simulation (Figure 2.8), the water also slowed down greatly from its initial speed to ab out 5 cm/s. The color legend on the right of the figures represents the velocity of the water in the simulation. It is observed that the water undergoes substantial deceleration as it approaches the EFB and continues to decelerate upon entering the EFB.

Using the particle tracing function of COMSOL Multiphysics, the movement of water can be traced as black lines in the simulation. These lines illustrate that the particles pass through the gaps within the egg frames (Figures 2.7c and 2.8c), which mimics the porous ability of the egg frames to have water be able to go between the fibers of the frames.



Figure 2.7: (a) Full horizontal velocity profile of 60cm/s simulation. (b) Focused view on EFB and (c) close up of particle tracing between frames.



Figure 2.8: (a) Full horizontal velocity profile of 20 cm/s simulation. (b) Focused view on EFB and (c) close up of particle tracing between frames.

Based on the simulations of the EFB placed in a stream with velocities of 20 and 60 cm/s, the relationship found between the incoming flow and the flow in the box is that the water velocity in the box was significantly decreased. In the case of the simulation with an inlet water velocity speed of 60 cm/s, when the water approaches the EFB at about 40 cm away, the average water flow velocity decelerated to about 34.88 cm/s, about 58% reduction from the inlet flow velocity. As the water enters the EFB, the water velocity further decelerated to about 1.16 cm/s, which was about 2% of the inlet velocity. The water stayed at a relative constant speed while moving inside the EFB, retaining an average velocity of 1.37 cm/s, also about 2% of the selected inlet velocity.

Around the EFB is an entirely different scenario. As presented in Figure 2.9 showing the different sections of velocity profiles of the simulation, the water flowing directly on the left and right side of the EFB accelerated significantly when compared to the selected inlet velocity of 60 cm/s. On the left side of the EFB, the average velocity of the water was 94.51 cm/s, while the average velocity of the water on the right side of the EFB was 93.98 cm/s, about 158% increase when compared to the inlet velocity. In a real-life scenario, this may become a problem as the acceleration of the water may dislodge the anchors holding the EFB in place. Measurements and coordinates of where they were taken can be found in Table 2.2 below.

## **2.4 Discussion**

The optimum flow velocity for DS eggs adhered to egg frames is not fully understood. When consulting the LSFC regarding a suitable flow rate, they replied that 133.5 L/s is the preferred flow rate used for wakasagi egg incubation, which is converted to 0.1335 m<sup>3</sup>/s. Based on the cross-sectional area of the inlet, the water flow velocity can vary. When testing different substrates for DS eggs (Chapter 4), it was found that 10 cm/s was a suitable water flow velocity



Figure 2.9: Different sections in the 60 cm/s simulation for the EFB.

Table 2.2: Coordinates and water velocity in c	different sections of the 60 cm/s simulation.
------------------------------------------------	-----------------------------------------------

Area	X	Y	cm/s	Area	X	Y	cm/s	Area	X	Y	cm/s
Inlet	0.69	-0.97	58.80	Right	1.08	-0.36	96.88	Back	0.81	-0.30	1.71
	0.49	-1.00	58.37		1.10	-0.36	94.98		0.22	-0.09	1.30
	0.24	-1.01	58.78		1.07	-0.39	96.53		0.24	-0.09	1.27
	0.77	-1.02	59.44		1.19	-0.29	91.82		0.63	-0.09	1.13
	0.16	-0.95	58.79		1.06	-0.37	95.45		0.48	-0.08	1.47
	0.48	-1.05	58.73		1.15	-0.27	89.12		0.48	-0.13	1.59
	0.52	-1.11	59.27		1.12	-0.31	93.06		0.60	-0.09	1.15
Area	X	Y	cm/s	Area	Χ	Y	cm/s	Area	X	Y	cm/s
Approaching	0.55	-0.51	34.64	Left	-0.08	-0.36	98.28	Front	0.49	-0.31	1.28
	0.29	-0.48	26.60		-0.03	-0.37	84.57		0.33	-0.30	1.19
	0.69	-0.49	37.30		-0.06	-0.36	92.14		0.33	-0.30	1.13
	0.28	-0.49	31.46		-0.07	-0.32	96.41		0.49	-0.33	0.98
	0.35	-0.53	37.58		-0.09	-0.31	98.47		0.60	-0.32	1.10
	0.09	-0.45	35.18		-0.06	-0.37	97.94		0.86	-0.30	1.11
	0.74	-0.50	41.46		-0.07	-0.30	93.78		0.81	-0.30	1.30

for hatching the eggs. Lindberg et al., (2020) found that DS prefer pebble and sand substrates at higher water velocities (8.8 cm/s, 15.4 cm/s, and 14.6 cm/s) for spawning under certain laboratory conditions. With the information from the simulations of the flow of the Delta, the most suitable location to deploy the EFB is still not fully known. A suitable location for deployment should be in an area suitable for DS eggs to incubate and hatch while, not damaging or dislodging the EFB from its location. As spawning behavior for wild DS is still a mystery, their spawning grounds have still not been discovered. In an article by Kurobe et al., (2022), they cited several papers regarding the spawning habitats of fertile female DS.

The Spring Kodiak Trail (SKT) is an annual survey conducted from January to May that aims to assess the relative abundance and distribution of spawning DS within the Delta. The SKT data reveals that Cache Slough is the primary location where all the captured, ripe female DS were located. Furthermore, Kurobe et al., (2022) provided a significant insight that the majority of ripe female DS in Cache Slough were observed in the month of February.

Future studies that can be conducted to better understand using the wakasagi EFB. One focus can be to study how the hydrologic forces from the water current can affect the tension on the anchor and mooring lines that keep the EFB in place. The tensions in the mooring line and the EFB can be predicted using simulation outcome. This information will be useful when deciding the type of anchoring and mooring equipment needed, and the site where the EFB is to be deployed. Another idea that could be studied is modeling different EFB and egg frames in various shapes and sizes that could improve various aspects of incubating DS eggs on the EFB. This could include redesigning the EFB to facilitate improved water flow within the EFB in an effort to improve egg incubation or adjusting its size to accommodate a smaller number of eggs.

There are some limitations to this study as well. One limitation of our simulations is the inability to validate them through real-life experiments due to the high cost associated with small velocity flow meters. Another limitation of our simulation was the extended duration required to complete each simulation due to the computational demands, often taking several days to run a single simulation.

## **2.5 Conclusion**

Using the wakasagi EFB created by the LSFC to supplement the delta with larval DS seems like a plausible idea, given the similarities of wakasagi eggs with DS eggs like egg size and adhesive properties. The results of the simulation demonstrated that the water flowing towards the EFB at the specified inlet velocity undergoes significant deceleration as it approaches the EFB, ultimately to a flow velocity suitable for hatching DS eggs. Further research to deduce the area of the EFB with the most consistent flow velocity indicated that the front portion of the device has the most uniform water flow velocity.

# **Chapter 3: Temperature Effects on Delta Smelt Egg Hatching Using a Wakasagi Egg Frame Box**

#### **3.1 Introduction**

Delta smelt (DS) are a critically endangered species of fish found only in the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta (Delta). Diversion of water resources as well as historic drought conditions are some of the reasons for the decline of the population of the species (Moyle et al., 2018). DS play a crucial role in the Delta ecosystem for several compelling reasons. First, they serve as an indicator species, giving insight into the overall health of Delta. As an endemic species that is extremely sensitive, monitoring the status and health of the DS population and the trends provides valuable knowledge about the overall ecological condition of the region (Moyle et al., 2016). The preservation of their wild population helps maintain biodiversity and ecological balance within the Delta. Given the ongoing threat of invasive species introduction in the Delta, safeguarding as many native species like the DS becomes increasingly important (Poff et al., 1997).

The Fish Conservation and Culture Laboratory (FCCL) located in Byron, CA, is a facility affiliated with the University of California, Davis, specializing in the research, conservation, and cultivation of DS along with the threatened longfin smelt (*Spirinchus thaleichthys*). The lab is collaborating with multiple agencies on implementing methods to prevent extinction of the wild population of DS (Ellison et al., 2023; Lindberg et al., 2013). Reduction of hatchery effects is a large aspect of conservation programs that would incorporate cultured populations into conservation and management (Hindar et al., 1991). This involves modifying propagation methods or minimizing exposure to hatchery conditions in order to enhance the success of reintroducing cultured populations into their natural habitats (Kostow, 2009). One example of

this is a method involving the use of the egg frame box (EFB) from the LSFC in Japan, to hatch larval DS into the Delta using the same method that they employ for replenishing Lake Suwa with fertilized wakasagi (*Hypomesus nipponensis*) eggs that hatch and grow in the water for recreational purposes. Wakasagi and DS have potential to naturally hybridize in the SFE, and their eggs are very similar in terms of size and adhesiveness as previously mentioned in Chapter 2. Therefore, this approach for introducing larval DS with minimal domestic traits into the Delta appears plausible (Benjamin et al., 2018; Fisch et al., 2014; Xie Yuhao & Li Bo, 1987).

Early in the wakasagi spawning season, mature wakasagi are caught in Lake Suwa, Japan using trimmer nets when they travel upstream to their spawning grounds (Fujikawa & Katayama, 2014). The lake is divided into sections, and the fish are gathered in the center where they are caught using nets. Then, ripe males and females are immediately separated for egg spawning. It is important to emphasize the prevention of any moisture from contacting the eggs as they are water activated (Mizuno et al., 2010).

When spawning wakasagi, first, the eggs from a female are expressed into a dry container. Then, the milt from the male wakasagi is applied onto the eggs and the container is agitated using a waterfowl feather, which are hydrophobic due to its waxy coating (LSFC, n.d., section 6). The fertilized eggs are then poured onto the frames and spread evenly using the feather. Afterwards, the frames are then placed into a bowl filled with water to activate the eggs and milt. This addition also causes the adhesive stalks of the eggs to adhere to the fibers in the middle of the egg frame.

Since it would be important to determine whether the EFB would be suitable for DS in the Delta as it was for wakasagi in Lake Suwa, simulations were conducted to model the water flow velocity inside the compartments of the EFB to determine water flow rate that the eggs

attached to the egg frames would have to face (as described in Chapter 2). Results from the simulations demonstrated that as the water approaches the EFB, it experiences a substantial deceleration and further decelerates inside the EFB. The objectives in this chapter aims to compare the fluid interactions within the EFB observed in lab conditions to the predictions made by the simulations. We also evaluate the fertilization and survival rate of DS eggs within the EFB based on water temperatures found in the natural conditions found in the Delta and compare them to the rate observed under normal hatchery operation conditions.

# **3.2 Methods**

## 3.2.1 Wakasagi Egg Frame Box

The wakasagi EFB was acquired from the LSFC, an organization that oversees and regulates fishing activities of Lake Suwa, as a method to replenish lakes with wakasagi, a popular recreation fish amongst Japanese fishermen (Japan Travel, n.d.). The EFB consists of two parts: the EFB itself and the egg frames that are held inside the compartments of the EFB. The characteristics of the box can be found in Section 2.2.1.

## **3.2.2 Egg Fertilization and Attachment to the Egg Frames**

Spawning procedures for DS were adapted from methods employed by the FCCL with some slight modifications (Lindberg et al., 2013). Ripe DS were carefully selected and sorted by gender (Ellison et al., 2023). To ensure the safety and well-being of the fish, the DS were anesthetized using a diluted, non-lethal dose of buffered tricaine methane sulfonate (MS222,  $NH_2C_6H_4COOC_2H_5 \cdot CH_3SO_3H$ , Western Chemical, Inc.; 0.1 mg/L), and then gently dried off using paper towels. It is crucial to maintain a dry vent area in DS to prevent early activation of the eggs. The spawning process involved first strip-spawning the eggs from the female, followed by application of the milt from the male to fertilize the eggs on the egg frame. The eggs were then evenly distributed across the frame using a hydrophobic duck (Welsh Harlequin, *Anas platyrhynchos domesticus*) feather as seen in Figure 3.1. Once the eggs were submerged in water, fertilization began and the eggs naturally adhered to the substrate (Tsai et al., 2021). The egg frames were then placed into the EFB for incubation.

# **3.2.3 Egg Incubation Trials**

Five trials were conducted to evaluate the fertilization and survival rates of DS eggs incubated in the wakasagi EFB. A total of 23954 eggs spawned from multiple females were adhered on the frames, ranging from 686 to 3516 for each frame, with an average of 1597 eggs per frame. In each trial, only three egg frames containing eggs were placed in the EFB along with empty egg frames and placed into a  $15 \times 2.5 \times 3$  m, 1900-L rectangular tank on site at the FCCL in one of the facilities as seen in Figure 3.2. During the first, second-, and third-days postfertilization (DPF), the eggs were soaked in a diluted Pond Rid-Ich solution (55 mL Pond Rid-Ich to 3.73 L system water, Kordon LLC., 0.014:1) for a minute each day. This process minimizes the potential for bacterial and fungal accumulation on the dead eggs, which could negatively impact the hatching success of the viable eggs. Formalin, an aqueous solution of formaldehyde (CH<sub>2</sub>O), is an active ingredient in Pond Rid-ich, commonly used to kill bacteria and fungus. A constant water flow velocity of 30 cm/s was chosen and maintained because this flow velocity was achievable and within the range typically encountered when the EFB deployed in Lake Suwa in Japan (LSFC, n.d., section 6). Temperatures of 15.5, 16.3, 17.6, 20.2, and 20.7°C were selected for the trials because they represented natural conditions found in the Delta, with each temperature tested once.



Figure 3.1: Hydrophobic duck feather used to spread delta smelt eggs evenly across egg frames.



Figure 3.2: (a) The wakasagi EFB inside the 1900-L rectangular trough. The inlet can be seen at the bottom of the picture. (b) A close up of the EFB inside the trough.

(a)

(b)

## **3.2.4 Data Collection**

The eggs on the egg frames were photographed using a camera (Canon EOS Rebel XTi, Canon Technologies Corp., Japan) on 3 and 10 DPF to find the fertilization and survival rates of the eggs. After 10 DPF, any live egg that has not hatched would be labeled as dead eggs. Live and dead eggs were counted using an image processing extension called Fiji on ImageJ, a public domain image analysis software developed by the National Institutes of Health (NIH), to determine the success of fertilization and incubation on each of the frames. The photographs of the eggs adhered to the frames were first imported into ImageJ with the Fiji extension for cell counting, and then each individual egg was manually selected and marked as either live or dead (Schindelin et al., 2012; Schneider et al., 2012; Tsai et al., 2021). The process of selecting and counting live and dead eggs are shown in Figure 3.3. A live egg would be attached to the substrate and look clear with visible eyespots on the embryo, and an egg would be considered a dead egg when it was detached from the substrate, was opaque, covered in fungus, or had no distinguishable eyespots (Tsai et al., 2021). The software was then used to automatically count the number of live and dead eggs, based on the markings manually made on the images. This method was chosen because it allowed for a quick and accurate counting of a large quantity of eggs, which would have been difficult to achieve manually.

## **3.2.5 Statistical Analyses**

All statistical analyses in this study were performed using RStudio (PBC, Boston, MA). The comparison of fertilization and hatching parameters among treatment means was conducted using Tukey's HSD (honestly significant difference) test. Prior to conducting the ANOVA, the normality of the residuals was assessed using the Shapiro-Wilk test and the Bartlett test for homogeneity of variances. Given the violations of the assumptions of normality and



Figure 3.3: Process of counting 3 DPF live and dead DS eggs on an egg frame using Fiji extension on ImageJ starting from (a) initializing the image then (b) starting the counting to (c) tallying the final count. Red symbols signify a dead egg and blue symbols signify a live egg.

homogeneity of variances, a non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test followed by a post-Hoc Dunn's test for significance between substrates is employed. This method was well-suited for the study as it provides a more comprehensive understanding of the temperature variations. Each temperature was evaluated once, and three frames were used simultaneously as replicates.

## **3.3 Results**

The fertilization rate of the DS eggs was determined after the 10-day incubation period on the egg frames as seen in Table 3.1. Of the eggs evaluated in all the 5 trials, an average of 48% of the eggs were successfully fertilized, ranging from 14 to 88% successful fertilization rate. At lower temperatures, a consistent fertilization rate was observed, but as the water temperature increased, the fertilization rate decreased significantly but there was an increase in the fertilization rate at 20.7°C. Similarly, survival rates were higher at lower temperatures compared to higher ones. This shows that fertilization rate of DS eggs were significantly influenced by the temperature (p = 0.028, Figure 3.4).

The average survival rate of the DS eggs tested had an average of 50%, ranging between 22 and 100% survival rate. Similarly, the egg survival rate after 10 days was also analyzed and is shown to be significantly affected by the temperature (p = 0.031, Figure 3.4). Table 3.1 below has the fertilization and hatching results from the completed trials. Further, a post-hoc Tukey HSD test was conducted to further investigate which groups differ from one another. For the fertilization rate, it seems like the difference between Temp 20.7°C and 20.2°C is statistically significant with p = 0.027. As for the survival rate, there is a significant difference between the survival rates when the water temperature was 17.6°C and 16.3°C. These significant differences are indicated in Figure 3.4 using letters to denote statistical significance when comparing multiple groups.

Start Date	Temp (°C)	Frame #	Live 3 DPF	Unviable 3DPF	Live 10DPF	Unviable 10DPF	Fertilization rate (%)	Survival rate (%)
3/13/20	15.5	1	826	530	360	739	61	44
3/13/20	15.5	2	281	859	73	1155	25	26
3/13/20	15.5	3	605	81	471	117	88	78
3/31/20	16.3	4	400	332	380	202	55	95
3/31/20	16.3	5	739	706	739	546	51	100
3/31/20	16.3	6	686	349	522	279	66	76
4/14/20	17.6	7	1026	1089	291	339	49	28
4/14/20	17.6	8	716	1176	296	258	38	41
4/14/20	17.6	9	288	676	79	135	30	27
4/28/20	20.2	10	728	2373	163	308	23	22
4/28/20	20.2	11	507	3009	325	461	14	64
4/28/20	20.2	12	346	1418	96	257	20	28
5/12/20	20.7	13	467	323	316	239	59	68
5/12/20	20.7	14	1826	455	519	552	80	28
5/12/20	20.7	15	711	426	209	450	63	29

Table 3.1: Egg fertilization and hatching results from five completed trials.

(a)

(b)



Figure 3.4: (a) Fertilization rate (%) and (b) survival rate (%) after 10 days of DS eggs on egg frames across 5 different temperatures (mean  $\pm$  SE). Temperatures with the same letter, (e.g., a, b, or c) indicate that they are not significantly different from each other.

## **3.4 Discussion**

From the results obtained, it is evident that the fertilization rate as well as survival rate of DS eggs were significantly affected by the temperature of the water it is contained in. Specifically, the 16.3°C incubation trial had the most successful survival rate as well as above average fertilization rate between the temperatures tested. The FCCL observed better hatching results at 15°C compared to temperatures of 10°C and 20°C during DS egg incubation (Baskerville-Bridges et al., 2005). This preference for 15°C could potentially indicate captive traits in DS. The FCCL maintains a water temperature of 16°C during incubation, and this temperature preference for hatching at around 16°C may have been unintentionally selected in DS bred at the FCCL. Though the 20.7°C trial yielded the highest fertilization rate, it was from one group tested that had a much higher rate when compared to the other two groups that were tested. This could be the reason for that anomaly when compared to the FCCL observations, though more studies need to be conducted to come to a more concrete conclusion.

When the eggs were adhered onto the frames during incubation, fungus grew on some of the dead eggs as seen in Figure 3.5. During FCCL daily operations, *Saprolegnia* fungus would grow when there were dead eggs and would spread rapidly. The LSFC also encountered this fungus problem and would carefully remove the fungus from the eggs daily using prongs (LSFC, n.d., section 6). The fungus would proliferate on the frames around the dead eggs. The same problem has been seen for eggs of many different freshwater and marine fish species as there is a strong inverse relationship between the time required for a



Figure 3.5: Egg frame with dead fertilized DS eggs affected with fungal infection.

fertilized fish egg to develop and the surrounding water temperature (Dannevig, 1895; Pauly & Pullin, 1988). At the FCCL, using the diluted Pond Rid-Ich treatment (55 mL Pond Rid-Ich to 3.73 L system water, Kordon LLC., 0.014:1) for 3 days as referenced in Section 3.2.3 has been effective in reducing the growth of the fungus, but not completely, so daily maintenance was still required to pick the fungus off the frames.

Examining how water temperature influences egg fertilization and survival could contribute to conservation strategies for DS for determining the precise time frame to deploy the EFB into the Delta based on temperature of the water. Though each temperature was successful in hatching and survival of DS eggs, the optimum water temperature for egg incubation is not yet fully understood. The experiment concluded that fertilization (80%) and survival rates (76%) were slightly lower than under normal laboratory conditions for DS at the FCCL, so additional trials should be conducted to identify water temperatures that yield similar fertilization and hatching rates comparable to rates under normal laboratory conditions (97%) (Y. J. Tsai et al., 2022).

While modeling the simulation with an inlet velocity of 60 cm/s, the water inside the EFB decelerated to an average of 10cm/s. When comparing the results of the simulations discussed in chapter 2 with the results obtained from these trials, it became apparent that the water velocity experienced inside the EFB is suitable for successfully hatching DS eggs. This observed water velocity was corroborated when testing with DS eggs on the EFB, which resulted in the successful hatching of the eggs.

## **3.5** Conclusion

Given the similarities found in wakasagi and DS eggs, using the wakasagi EFB seems like a plausible idea to supplement the Delta with larval DS. This study found that temperature

had a significant effect on the fertilization and survival of DS eggs. These findings will contribute to conservation efforts that aim to protect and restore the wild population of the DS. As DS are an endangered species that is endemic only to the Delta, it is important to keep them from becoming extinct as they would be a valuable tool for monitoring and studying changes in the environment. Overall, this study investigates the optimum temperature for DS incubation inside the EFB, but also shows that it can be used to hatch DS eggs. Further research on incubation temperature when planning strategies for DS on the EFB conservation should be considered.

## **Chapter 4: Testing of Alternative Egg Frame Materials**

## **4.1 Introduction**

Delta smelt (DS) are an imperiled fish species found only in the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta (Delta). They are annual, multi-spawning fish from the Osmeridae family that are split into three groups based on major life-history phenotypes of DS: freshwater resident, brackish-water resident, and semi-anadromous (Bush & Hobbs, 2017; Hobbs et al., 2019). Their eggs are laid onto substrate material like gravel, sand, or vegetation (Kurobe et al., 2022). Each egg possesses an adhesive stalk to facilitate its attachment to the substrate and keep it from getting carried into the water current (Lindberg et al., 2020). The relative abundance of each group varies yearly, with the semi-anadromous phenotype being the most common and the brackish-water resident being the least common.

Wakasagi are a Japanese fish species that are found in lakes and rivers throughout Japan. They are also an introduced species found in the Delta and phenotypically as well as genetically, have very similar characteristics to DS (Swanson et al., 2000). Wakasagi, similar to DS, typically live for one year (Singh et al., 2015). They are both similar in size and use an adhesive stock to adhere the egg to substrate as described in Chapter 3. In Japan, wakasagi are a popular target for recreational fishing in the winter (Japan Travel, n.d.). Chartered boats carry anglers to fishing spots where they can catch wakasagi.

One method used to resupply the population of wakasagi into these lakes, is an EFB that fertilized wakasagi eggs adhere onto. Several of these frames are contained together in an EFB. The EFB is placed into the mouth of a shallow, flowing body of water. Over the course of several days, the fertilized eggs develop and hatch into the water. The flowing water gently aerates the eggs, while adhesive stalks of the eggs keep them adhered onto the frame, so they are not swept away into the current. An EFB was obtained from the Lake Suwa Fishing Collective (LSFC) as this approach is hypothesized to be feasible because of the many similarities that eggs of the two species share. The EFB and egg frame are constructed from palm fiber, while the mesh of the egg frame is made from palm tree bark fiber.

The FCCL, which houses the refuge population of DS that are genetically similar to wild DS, purchased an EFB along with 32 egg frames, to evaluate their application for DS eggs. Previous studies (Chapter 3) have concluded that DS eggs can adhere, incubate, and hatch from the frames of the EFB created by the LSFC. The LSFC, the manufacturer of the EFB, is planning to discontinue production due to the loss of knowledge and expertise necessary for its manufacture.

Thus, the objective for this study is to find a new material to substitute for the egg frames that we used in the EFB. The material must be both biodegradable and thin enough to fit into the slots of the EFB, providing a suitable surface for egg adhesion while allowing water to flow between the EFB slots. For this experiment, DS egg fertilization and hatching rates were evaluated on two different substrates, burlap, and garden fabric (Figure 4.1).

# 4.2 Methods

Frames and materials for substrate were created using plywood bought from Home Depot, and the substrates (garden fabric and burlap) were secured to the frames using yarn. These materials were selected because they are biodegradable and readily available in most locations. The prototype frame made from plywood was created using the exact measurements of one of the egg frames purchased from the LSFC (38 cm length  $\times$  19 cm height $\times$  1.3 cm width). After assembly, the frames were placed in tanks with flowing water for a day to allow for the leaching of any excess chemicals from the exterior of the materials. The spawning procedure



Figure 4.1: Different egg frame materials (right to left: palm tree fiber, burlap, and garden fabric).

followed the methods outlined in Chapter 3, with the exception that the methods being that the eggs were spawned onto different substrates used as the frame mesh.

Two trials were conducted, each frame type was replicated three times. Fertilized eggs from three different female DS were randomly distributed onto the frames. Each tray contained three different types of egg frames. The trays were all placed in a larger water bath to control the temperature of the system. Each tray had a spray bar to recirculate the water flow from the front of the trays to the back where the water flows through a catch screen (Figure 4.2). The flow velocity for the two trials were both 10 cm/s and a temperature of 12°C, which was based on the LSFC egg management book (LSFC, n.d., section 6). Similar to Chapter 3, fungus would accumulate on dead eggs, so they had to be carefully removed daily. The eggs were photographed daily from Day 0 until Day 10 using a camera (Canon EOS Rebel XTi, Canon Technologies Corp., Japan). The camera was mounted onto a tripod to ensure consistent positioning and focus. The trials concluded after 10 days post fertilization, and it was determined that the unhatched eggs were dead after the 10-day incubation. After completion of the trials, data collection was conducted using the same methodology outlined in Chapter 3.2.4. Live and dead egg counts were recorded on Days 1, 5, and 10. The fertilization and survival rates of the DS eggs adhered to the different substrates were determined after 3 and 10 DPF days of incubation, respectively, on the experimental egg frames.


Figure 4.2: (a) The layout of the system used for the trials and (b) diagram of the tray system.

#### **4.2.1 Statistical Analyses**

All statistical analysis in this study was performed using RStudio (PBC, Boston, MA). In the analysis of the experimental data, the significant difference in the survival and hatching rates between the different treatments and placements between the means between attached and detached eggs were analyzed using a one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's HSD test used to compare the means of different groups. Prior to conducting the ANOVA, the normality of the residuals was assessed using the Shapiro-Wilk test and the Bartlett test for homogeneity of variances. Given the violations of the assumptions of normality and homogeneity of variances, a non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test followed by a post-Hoc Dunn's test for significance between substrates is employed.

### 4.3 Results

The experiment was initially performed using 48 groups of DS eggs that were divided into 3 based on frame substrate. Photographed used to as illustrated in Figures 4.3, 4.4, and 4.5. Table 4.1 shows the fertilization and survival rates of the eggs on day 1, 5, 10 and 15. The Shapiro-Wilk test indicated that the residuals were not normally distributed (p > 0.05), while the Bartlett test confirmed the assumption of homogeneity of variances (p > 0.05). In this case, a non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test was used to assess the effect of different substrates on fertilization rate and did not reveal a statistically significant difference between the treatment groups (Kruskal-Wallis chi-squared = 3.41, df = 2, p = 0.18) meaning that the DS eggs showed no significant difference in fertilization between the substrates tested for the frames. The average fertilization rate, determined after 5 DPF, was 35%.



Figure 4.3: Delta smelt eggs from group 4C (garden fabric) on different DPFs taken on a Canon EOS Rebel XTi. Live eggs stayed attached to the substrate and looked clear. Dead eggs were detached from the substrate, opaque, or covered in fungus.



Figure 4.4: Delta smelt eggs from group 3I (burlap) on different DPFs taken on a Canon EOS Rebel XTi. Live eggs stayed attached to the substrate and looked clear. Dead eggs were detached from the substrate, opaque, or covered in fungus.



Figure 4.5: Delta smelt eggs from group 1F (palm fiber) on different DPFs taken on a Canon EOS Rebel XTi. Live eggs stayed attached to the substrate and looked clear. Dead eggs were detached from the substrate, opaque, or covered in fungus.

Table 4.1: Average and standard error of fertilization and survival rate of DS eggs on egg frames with different substrates found on day 1, 5, and 10 DPF.

Frame Type	Fertilization	D1 Survival	D5 Survival	D10 Survival
Control	$0.54\pm0.07$	1	$0.67\pm0.37$	$0.48\pm0.27$
Burlap	$0.53\pm0.08$	$0.89\pm0.08$	$0.27\pm0.07$	$0.20\pm0.07$
Garden Fabric	$0.69\pm0.07$	$0.94\pm0.06$	$0.38\pm0.06$	$0.33\pm0.06$

The Shapiro-Wilk test indicated that the residuals were not normally distributed (W = 0. 0.85, p = 6.65E-6), while the Bartlett test confirmed the assumption of homogeneity of variances (K-squared = 0.55, df = 2, p = 0.76). In this case, a non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test was used to assess the effect of different substrates on fertilization rate and did not reveal a statistically significant difference between the treatment groups (Kruskal-Wallis chi-squared = 2.51, df = 2, p = 0.29), meaning that the DS eggs showed no significant difference in survival between the substrates tested for the frames. The average survival rate, determined between 5 and 10 DPF, was about 83% of the eggs fertilized.

After live and dead DS eggs for each day have been tallied, the results are analyzed using the Kruskal-Wallis test, it was found that DS eggs had no significant difference in fertilization rate (p = 0.18) and survival rate (p = 0.29) between the treatments and were tolerant to the frame types used.

# 4.4 Discussion

This study aimed to investigate the effects of different treatments on fertilization and survival rate in DS eggs. The results from this experiment showed no significance in the fertilization or survival rate of DS eggs amongst the substrates used to make the egg frame. The study found no significant differences in fertilization and survival rate amongst the substrates tested. These findings are similar with the results of another project conducted at the FCCL, particularly the fertilization rate (Tsai et al., 2021). However, it is important to note that the Shapiro-Wilk test indicated a violation of the normality assumption and, while the Bartlett test confirmed that variances were homogeneous, the violation of normality suggests that the results should be interpreted with caution.

Despite the lack of statistical significance, the trends observed in this study demonstrate that DS eggs can survive on the wakasagi egg frame, burlap, and garden fabric. It also shows that many different materials may be used to substitute the palm fibers used for the mesh for the DS eggs to adhere to, although there are some substrates, acrylic for example, that DS eggs do not adhere to very well (Tsai et al., 2022). Future studies could benefit from a larger sample size to mitigate the impact of violations of statistical assumptions.

Another problem found during this experiment was the recurring occurrence of fungus that would appear on the frames to proliferate on the dead eggs. The fungus would proliferate on the eggs and could potentially impact the overall outcome of the study, so it is crucial to prioritize the removal of the fungus. Using the same methods of bathing the egg frames in a diluted Pond Rid-Ich solution in Chapter 3.4, the picking process was much easier on the burlap and garden fabric substrates than from the synthetic fibers substrate that is used by the LSFC, mainly because the fungus was easier to identify and pick through when using the prototypic frames compared to the original substrate, where there were fiber strands layered on top of each other, so it was harder to see the fungus and pick them out using the forceps.

### 4.5 Conclusion

DS are an endangered species that are only found in the Delta. Using an EFB can help replenish the Delta with DS that have fewer domestic traits than larvae born in laboratory/fishery conditions. The LSFC, the manufacturer of the EFB, is planning to discontinue, so various substrates are being tested to determine their effectiveness as a potential replacement for the egg frames made by the LFSC. The two materials that were tested were common items that can be easily found. The outcome indicates that DS eggs can successfully adhere, incubate, and hatch on a variety of substrates, including items that can be easily accessed. This study also

demonstrates that DS eggs are adapted to be able to adhere to different materials and suggests that creating an egg frame using alternative materials can be cost-effective and also easily reproducible if this method for wakasagi supplementation can be adapted for hatching DS.

This study contributes to our understanding of the effects of different substrates on fertilization and survival rate on DS by demonstrating that locally available materials like burlap and garden fabric could be just as effective for the egg frame, this shows that there are many possibilities for biodegradable, cost-effective and easily reproducible alternatives to replace the egg frames. Future studies could also expand on this project by exploring the use of other locally accessible materials for egg frames, as well as different shapes and sizes of both the egg frames and EFB. This research can lead to optimization of the EFB for hatching DS larvae into the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta that are genetically similar to wild DS.

### **Chapter 5: Humidity Effects on the Delta Smelt Eggs**

# **5.1 Introduction**

Delta smelt (DS) are an endangered fish that reside only in the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta (Delta). They are small, silvery fish that can reach a size of up to 5-7 cm in length (Moyle et al., 2016). As an indicator species of the delta, their health and status as a population are a proportional representation of the ecosystem that DS reside in (Hasenbein et al., 2013). Their lifespan usually only lasts for one year. They are multi-spawning fish from the Osmeridae family that are split into three groups based on major life-history phenotypes of DS: freshwater resident, brackish-water resident, and semi-anadromous (Bush & Hobbs, 2017; Hobbs et al., 2019). Each egg is about 1 mm in diameter and is equipped with an adhesive stalk, allowing them to cling onto substrates such as sand or vegetation to prevent them from being carried away by the water currents (Lindberg et al., 2020). Subsequently, larval DS hatch from the eggs and develop in the waters.

There are factors that can be attributed for their status as an endangered species, including water diversion and long droughts (Moyle et al., 2016). Given their annual life cycle, years of disruptions in the migration process between locations have led to a decline in the population of DS. Thus, efforts to protect and propagate this species has led to the idea of implementing an Egg Frame Box (EFB) created by the Lake Suwa Fishing Collective (LSFC, n.d., section 6). The EFB is designed to contain 32 egg frames that are used to hold wakasagi (*Hypomesus nipponensis*) eggs. DS and wakasagi eggs have very similar characteristics that make using the EFB for DS eggs a viable option, as mentioned in Chapters 2-4.

Another important consideration is to determine the coordination of transporting the eggs from the Fish Conservation and Culture Laboratory (FCCL) to the deployment site. The LSFC

transports their egg frames covered by a polypropylene tarp. As the feasible location for the deployment of the EFB should be somewhere in the Delta, the endemic habitat for the DS, the eggs should have to be transported for several hours to reach the destination. The fundamental question is the transportation method for the EFB containing DS eggs and whether it is feasible to transport the EFB without keeping it submerged, thereby exposing the eggs to ambient conditions during transportation. This should be studied to better understand how DS eggs fare in conditions with different temperatures and humidity than they would experience under water.

This chapter focuses on studying the impact of varying temperatures and humidity levels on the hatching and survival rate of DS eggs. Gaining insight into the response of DS eggs to these conditions during transportation could be crucial to refining methods to transport the EFB containing DS eggs. This could contribute to ensuring the successful reintroduction of this endangered species to its native habitat as well as future procedures for spawning and research on DS eggs.

### **5.2 Methods**

#### 5.2.1 Ambient Temperature and Humidity Inside the Egg Frame Box

To evaluate the effects of ambient conditions on DS eggs inside the EFB during transportation from the FCCL to the deployment site of the EFB, a series of trials were conducted on August 19, 2022, and January 21, 2023, to observe the effects during different seasons. One of the trials took place in the summer, characterized by significantly high temperatures and low air humidity, while the other trial was conducted during the winter when the temperature was low, and the humidity was high. Initially, the EFB was kept submerged in water inside a circular tank for a day. Afterward, it was removed from the water and positioned

on a dry table in the laboratory. Over the course of five hours, the humidity and temperature inside the box were recorded for five hours using seven Bel-Art H-B Instruments Thermometer-Hygrometers (Bel-Art Products, Inc., Wayne, NJ) are placed inside the EFB at various locations, as shown in Figure 5.1.

Humidity and temperature were recorded for 5 hours, and the data was used to determine the different humidity levels tested (Tables 5.1 - 5.4 and Figures 5.2 - 5.5). It should be noted that after 78 minutes, the box was moved from inside to outside to replicate conditions that would be seen if the box was moved from where it was submerged in the lab and loaded onto a truck outdoors to be moved to its destination. Another thing to be noted for the ambient conditions recorded on 8/19/2022 is that during the afternoon hours, the probe for recording ambient temperature had difficulty reading the humidity and gave no reading. However, it can be seen that the relative humidity inside the EFB on 8/19/2022 declined as low as 40%. This was used to form a baseline for the lowest humidity tested during the study. After the baseline of 40% relative humidity for the lowest humidity tested during the study was found, four humidity levels are chosen for the next experiment, 40%, 60%, 80%, and 100%.



Figure 5.1: Placement of Bel-Art H-B Instruments Thermometer-Hygrometers inside the wakasagi EFB. Probes were all positioned on the bottom of the box.

Time	P1	P2	P3	P4	P5	P6	P7	Ambient
8:40	66%	63%	54%	63%	58%	61%	61%	39%
8:41	67%	64%	54%	63%	58%	61%	61%	39%
8:42	67%	64%	55%	64%	59%	62%	61%	39%
8:43	69%	66%	58%	66%	61%	64%	64%	39%
8:45	71%	69%	61%	69%	63%	67%	68%	40%
8:50	73%	73%	69%	73%	68%	72%	73%	42%
8:55	75%	74%	73%	75%	71%	74%	74%	44%
9:00	76%	76%	75%	77%	73%	75%	76%	46%
9:10	79%	80%	79%	81%	78%	77%	78%	49%
9:40	86%	84%	85%	86%	83%	84%	86%	50%
9:58	88%	87%	87%	88%	87%	83%	83%	57%
10:40	87%	85%	86%	89%	88%	87%	88%	62%
11:40	90%	85%	88%	93%	92%	90%	90%	57%
12:40	91%	83%	85%	93%	91%	89%	89%	52%
13:40	92%	87%	89%	93%	92%	88%	89%	57%
13:58	89%	86%	87%	90%	90%	90%	90%	56%

Table 5.1: Relative Humidity in EFB on 1/21/2023



Figure 5.2: Relative Humidity in EFB on 1/21/2023

Time	P1	P2	P3	P4	P5	P6	P7	Ambient
8:40	9.9	9.9	10.2	10.2	10.5	10	10.6	10.2
8:41	9.9	10	10.3	10.2	10.6	10.1	10.7	10.2
8:42	10	10	10.3	10.2	10.6	10.1	10.7	10.2
8:43	10.3	9.9	10.1	10	10.4	10	10.4	9.9
8:45	10.1	9.7	9.8	9.8	10.1	9.9	10.2	9.6
8:50	9.9	9.5	9.6	9.5	9.8	9.8	9.9	9.5
8:55	9.8	9.3	9.4	9.3	9.5	9.7	9.7	9.5
9:00	9.6	9.7	9.1	9	9.2	9.5	9.4	9.5
9:10	9	8.5	8.6	8.6	8.7	9.2	9	9.6
9:40	8.8	8.4	8.4	8.4	8.6	8.9	8.7	9.8
9:58	5.8	5.8	5.8	6	5.9	5.9	6	7.5
10:40	5.4	5.8	5.6	5.5	5.6	5.7	5.8	8.3
11:40	5.8	6.3	6.2	5.9	6	6.1	6.3	9.2
12:40	6.4	6.2	6.7	6.7	6.6	6.9	7	10
13:40	7.1	7	7.2	7.1	7.1	7	7.2	10.1
13:58	9.9	9.9	10.2	10.2	10.5	10	10.6	10.2

Table 5.2: Temperature in °C in EFB on 1/21/2023



Figure 5.3: Temperature (°C) in EFB on 1/21/2023

Time	P1	P2	P3	P4	P5	P6	P7	Ambient
8:40	67%	65%	64%	62%	66%	73%	73%	51%
8:41	68%	66%	66%	63%	67%	74%	74%	50%
8:42	69%	68%	65%	69%	70%	76%	75%	50%
8:43	70%	69%	71%	66%	70%	77%	76%	51%
8:45	73%	72%	74%	69%	73%	79%	78%	52%
8:50	73%	78%	81%	74%	79%	83%	82%	47%
8:55	81%	82%	83%	78%	83%	86%	84%	48%
9:00	84%	85%	87%	81%	85%	89%	87%	48%
9:10	88%	88%	89%	84%	88%	92%	89%	49%
9:40	91%	93%	91%	90%	93%	95%	93%	50%
9:58	93%	96%	90%	90%	92%	87%	80%	53%
10:40	77%	73%	63%	62%	60%	76%	63%	
11:40	65%	62%	55%	52%	55%	64%	52%	
12:40	63%	59%	47%	45%	46%	53%	45%	33%
13:40	51%	56%	46%	47%	47%	48%	40%	30%
13:58	53%	53%	43%	49%	45%	62%	45%	29%

Table 5.3: Relative Humidity in EFB on 8/19/2022



Figure 5.4: Relative Humidity in EFB on 8/19/2022

Time	P1	P2	P3	P4	P5	P6	P7	Ambient
8:40	22.0	22.1	22.4	21.7	20.9	20.7	20.3	23.1
8:41	21.8	21.9	22.2	21.7	20.9	20.6	20.2	23.2
8:42	21.6	21.9	21.1	20.9	20.4	20.4	19.9	23.3
8:43	21.3	21.3	21.7	21.4	20.5	20.2	19.8	23.2
8:45	20.9	20.6	21.5	20.9	20.2	19.5	19.5	23.0
8:50	20.9	20.4	20.3	20.4	19.6	19.3	18.9	22.7
8:55	19.6	19.5	19.7	19.6	19.2	19.0	18.7	22.6
9:00	19.2	19.2	19.4	19.0	18.9	18.9	18.4	22.2
9:10	18.8	18.9	19.1	18.9	18.5	18.7	18.1	21.7
9:40	18.0	18.5	18.6	18.7	18.0	18.5	17.5	21.6
9:58	19.4	19.3	19.6	19.8	19.4	20.2	19.9	25.7
10:40	22.6	23.2	24.4	24.7	24.9	22.6	24.1	45.7
11:40	24.9	26.1	27.1	27.3	27.0	24.8	26.3	45.2
12:40	25.5	26.0	27.8	28.2	28.2	26.1	27.9	31.8
13:40	26.6	27.0	28.3	28.3	28.6	28.2	29.8	33.5
13:58	27.2	27.7	29.1	28.7	29.0	26.9	28.8	32.8

Table 5.4: Temperature in °C in EFB on 1/21/2023



Figure 5.5: Temperature (°C) in EFB on 8/19/2022

### 5.2.2 Temperature and Humidity Trials on Delta Smelt Eggs

For this experiment, 5 ripe DSs were collected using the refuge population from the FCCL. Eggs were spawned and fertilized at the FCCL using the spawning procedure outlined in Chapter 3.2.2, with the exception that the methods being that the eggs were spawned into bowls. The eggs were pooled together and then transported under water in bowls to the Hung lab at Bainer Hall at UC Davis campus, where they were then incubated using a water bath at 16°C. For the initial 3 days, a diluted Pond Rid-Ich solution (55 mL Pond Rid-Ich to 3.73 L system water, Kordon LLC, Hayward, CA, 0.014:1) was used daily for 1 minute daily. On the third day of maintenance, a bentonite solution (100mL Bentonite to 1.5 L system water, Sigma-Aldrich ,0.067:1) was gently applied to the outer coating of the eggs. This procedure was done to remove their adhesive stalk to make the eggs easier to move. Before starting the trial, the live eggs are selected and placed into groups of 30.

Based on the relative humidity found in the EFB on 8/19/2022 and 1/21/2023, humidities of 40%, 60%, 80%, and 100%, along with a control, were selected for testing. Triplicates of each group were made, with the controls being under 100% humidity and 15°C for the duration of the study. On the fourth day after fertilization, the eggs were put on trials. The eggs were taken out of their bowls and placed on a dry screen (1 µm) to remove the moisture from the eggs (Figure 5.6). The eggs were then placed into a Caron Environmental Chamber 7000-25 (Caron, Marietta, OH), set at the corresponding humidity and 25°C for 5 hours. Humidity and temperature of each group are monitored using a Bel-Art H-B Instruments Thermometer-Hygrometer placed next to each screens. Another set of 3 groups were placed into a 25°C water bath for 5 hours and another set of 3 groups functioned as the control group. The same procedures were replicated for a 3-hour trial under the same four conditions. After the experiments, the eggs were returned to their



Figure 5.6: A round white PVC with a 1  $\mu$ m mesh screen used to remove moisture from delta smelt eggs.

respective egg bowls and submerged for incubation once again. The eggs were then monitored daily over a span of seven days, during which, both live and dead eggs were counted. Any dead eggs identified were promptly removed. Hatching was also induced on the eggs by gently swirling the eggs in a circular pattern using a pipette.

#### **5.2.4 Egg Hatching Determination**

DS eggs generally hatch in 8-10 days at 15-17°C, although it is not unusual to have a few larvae hatch early (Baskerville-Bridges et al., 2005). This usually signifies that the major hatching event should take place within the next two days. Thus, every day after the first larval DS hatched until the conclusion of the trial, the eggs were checked daily and then counted.

After 10 Days Post Fertilization (DPF), the live eggs that remained unhatched were considered dead eggs. The hatched larvae were counted and then subsequently transferred to a separate tank for euthanasia. The experiment conducted for the 3-hour trials for the study followed the same procedure as the 5-hour trial.

#### **5.2.5 Statistical Analyses**

All statistical analyses in this study were performed using RStudio (PBC, Boston, MA). In the analysis of the experimental data, the significant difference in the hatching rates in the different humidities between the means and standard errors between attached and detached eggs were analyzed using Tukey's HSD test. Prior to conducting the ANOVA, the normality of the residuals was assessed using the Shapiro-Wilk test and the Bartlett test for homogeneity of variances. Given the violations of the assumptions of normality and homogeneity of variances, a non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test followed by a post-Hoc Dunn's test for significance between substrates is employed.

### **5.3 Results**

The results show that when exposed to 40% and 60% humidity for 5 hours, none of the eggs were able to hatch. When exposed to 80% humidity, 43.62% and 8.89% of the eggs hatched after being exposed for 3 and 5 hours, respectively. All of the eggs hatched in the 100% humidity as well as the control. This shows that exposure to unsaturated air that is less than 100% humidity would be detrimental to their hatching success.

In the 3-hour trial (Table 5.5 and Figure 5.7), the many of the eggs subjected to 40% and 60% humidity did not survive the experiment with 4.40% and 10% of the eggs hatching, respectively, while the eggs subjected to the 80% humidity fared much better with a 43.62% hatching rate. The 100% humidity and the control both had 100% hatching rate. The Shapiro-Wilk test indicated that the residuals were not normally distributed (p > 0.05), while the Bartlett test confirmed the assumption of homogeneity of variances (p > 0.05). The Kruskal-Wallis test indicated a significant overall effect of humidity on hatching rate ( $\chi^2 = 12.42$ , p = 0.01).

Post-hoc Dunn's tests were conducted to further investigate these differences revealing that the hatching rate at 100% humidity was significantly higher compared to 40% (p=0.004) and 60% (p=0.01). However, no significant difference was observed between 40% and 60% humidity levels (p=0.39).Similarly, no significant differences were observed between 100% and 80% (p = 0.07), 40% and 80% (p = 0.13), and 60% and 80% (p = 0.20) humidity levels. When compared to the control group, the 40%, 60% , and 80% humidity levels showed significant differences (p = 0.004, p = 0.01, and p = 0.07 respectively), but 60% and 80% did not (p = 0.20). The 100% humidity showed no significant difference from the control (p > 0.5). These significant differences when

Temp	Humidity	Live	Hatched	Hatching rate
25	40	24	0	13%
25	40	4	0	0%
25	40	30	0	0%
25	60	30	0	32%
25	60	30	6	0%
25	60	30	1	0%
25	80	30	6	16%
25	80	30	0	81%
25	80	19	2	23%
25	100	29	29	100%
25	100	30	30	100%
25	100	30	30	100%
control	control	30	30	100%
control	control	30	30	100%
control	control	30	30	100%

Table 5.5: Delta smelt eggs hatching rate for tested humidities for 3 hours.



Figure 5.7: Box plot of delta smelt eggs hatching rate for tested humidities for 3 hours. Temperatures with the same letter, (e.g., a, b, or c) indicate that they are not significantly different from each other.

comparing multiple groups. Temperatures with the same letter, (e.g., a, b, or c) indicate that they are not significantly different from each other.

In the 5-hour trial (Table 5.6 and Figure 5.8), none of the eggs subjected to 40% and 60% humidity survived the experiment, while the eggs subjected to the 80% humidity fared much better with an 8.89% hatching rate. The 100% humidity and the control both had 100% hatching rate. The Shapiro-Wilk test indicated that the residuals were not normally distributed (p > 0.05), while the Bartlett test confirmed the assumption of homogeneity of variances (p > 0.05). The Kruskal-Wallis test also indicated a significant overall effect of humidity on hatching rate ( $\chi^2 = 12.26$ , p = 0.02).

The Dunn's test also indicated significant differences in hatching rates among various humidity levels. Specifically, the hatching rate at 100% humidity was significantly different from that at 40% (p = 0.003) and 60% (p = 0.03). When compared to the control group, the 40% humidity level showed a significant difference (p = 0.003), as well as 60% and 80% did (p = 0.03 and p = 0.03, respectively). However, the hatching rate at 40% was not significantly different from that at 60% (p = 0.21). Additionally, no significant differences were observed between 40% and 80% (p = 0.18) and 60% and 80% (p = 0.46) humidity levels. The 100% humidity showed no significant difference from the control (p > 0.5). These significant differences are indicated in Figure 5.8 using letters to denote statistical significance when comparing multiple groups. Temperatures with the same letter, (e.g., a, b, or c) indicate that they are not significantly different from each other.

	00 0			
Temp	Humidity	Live	Hatched	Hatching rate
25	40	24	0	0%
25	40	4	0	0%
25	40	30	0	0%
25	60	30	0	0%
25	60	30	6	20%
25	60	30	1	3%
25	80	30	6	20%
25	80	30	0	0%
25	80	19	2	11%
25	100	29	29	100%
25	100	30	30	100%
25	100	30	30	100%
control	control	30	30	100%
control	control	30	30	100%
control	control	30	30	100%

Table 5.6: Delta smelt eggs hatching rate for tested humidities for 3 hours.



Figure 5.8: Box plot of delta smelt eggs hatching rate for tested humidities for 3 hours. Temperatures with the same letter, (e.g., a, b, or c) indicate that they are not significantly different from each other.

### **5.4 Discussion**

The findings suggest that DS eggs are highly sensitive to being outside of the aquatic environment. One explanation for this could be that lower humidity levels would dry out the chorion, leaving the entire egg to dry out, leading to their failure to hatch. Comparatively, all eggs in the control group (100% humidity with no exposure to air) were able to hatch at the conclusion of the experiment. This reinforces the understanding that DS eggs are best adapted for fully aquatic conditions. Therefore, to ensure better hatching rates, it is important to maintain 100% humidity conditions or by keeping the eggs submerged during transportation to the deployment site. More research would be needed to understand the mechanism behind how DS eggs fare when unsubmerged.

One challenge encountered was that the humidity chamber used could not lower the temperature to the desired 16°C, as the lowest temperature allowed was 25°C. To address this limitation, a control group trial was conducted to investigate potential differences in egg hatching between 16°C and 25°C. The results indicated no significant difference, although it should be noted that this trial was relatively small in scale. This is noteworthy because during the summer, the temperature inside the EFB reached up to 29°C, as indicated in Table 5.4 and Figure 5.5.

These findings provide much needed insight on the future transportation methods for the EFB for DS conservation efforts. This was the only experiment conducted where fungus did not accumulate on the dead eggs during incubation. This may be attributed to the daily maintenance conducted on the eggs. Another factor that may have also eliminated the appearance of fungus was because the number of eggs used was much less, so they were easier to manage.

While there are fish species that come onto land to spawn and fertilize their eggs, like the California grunion (*Leuresthes tenuis*), DS lack the adaptations that these fishes have to survive

and incubate on land (K. L. M. Martin et al., 2004). For California grunion, their spawning is closely tied to the moon cycle and will usually spawn on beaches during the highest tide by swimming onto land to lay and bury their eggs on the beach (Martin et al., 2011). Once the female has landed on the beach, she will burrow herself up to her pectoral fins using her tail to lay her eggs. Numerous male grunions will follow the females and attempt to fertilize the eggs with their milt and then will retreat back into the water. Though the eggs are laid on land and not submerged by the water, they are protected from ambient temperatures and humidity by the damp sand.

Another adaptation that California grunions exhibit that DS do not seem to do is the ability to extend their incubation period and prolong their hatching process when conditions are not favorable. These eggs have cues that react when water comes into contact with the outer layer of their eggs that they follow to be able to hatch at the right time. This adaptation leads to a better chance of survival by waiting until the next set of high tides is high enough to carry the grunion larvae into the ocean. These adaptations are essential for the California grunion and the main reason that their eggs are able to survive being un-submerged. As DS eggs do not have any similar adaptations, their eggs should not be left un-submerged, but more research needs to be conducted on this topic.

# **5.5 Conclusion**

DS are an endangered species of fish only found in the Delta. As an indicator species, their survival is especially important for the health of the delta. Multiple agencies and companies have been cooperating on ideas and efforts to bring the species back from the brink of extinction. The idea of adapting the wakasagi EFB to supplement the Delta with fertilized DS eggs that are ready to hatch has been discussed and from that, tests were conducted to examine the feasibility

of the contraption for DS eggs. The findings indicate that DS eggs are extremely sensitive to being removed from their aquatic environment. Therefore, to maintain high hatching rates, the eggs should remain submerged throughout their transport to the release site. From the results of this study, it shows that the EFB should be submerged during transportation to the deployment site when DS eggs are being held in it.

### **Chapter 6: Summary, Conclusion, and Recommendations**

### 6.1 Summary

Delta smelt (DS) are an endangered species of smelt, endemic to the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta (Delta). Though there are many reasons for their status as an endangered species, as a keystone species as well as an indicator species, it is paramount that their conservation for DS be successful and therefore should include different efforts to preserve the species. This study aims to contribute to the conservation of the endangered DS by exploring innovative methods, such as the wakasagi egg frame box (EFB) and evaluating its efficacy for DS eggs through a series of tests.

First, the computation fluid dynamics simulations conducted on COMSOL Multiphysics revealed that waters flowing into the box experiences significant deceleration (about 83% reduction) as it enters into the EFB. This along with the physical experiments using the EFB in a large flowing tank (see Chapter 3) demonstrated its viability for adaptability for accommodating DS eggs.

Previous studies have been conducted to determine the feasibility of the EFB in the previous chapters, including CFD simulations to determine the water flow velocity inside the EFB, testing to analyze the viability of the EFB on DS eggs, and testing different substrates to replace the palm fibers of the original EFB.

From simulations on COMSOL Multiphysics modeling the EFB using water flow velocities recorded in the Delta, it was calculated that water velocity decelerates rapidly as it travels in a unidirectional motion towards the openings of the EFB. The water velocity inside the EFB was found to be suitable for DS egg incubation and hatching from a separate study. Since the contraption was originally made for wakasagi eggs, the second study focused on the viability of the egg frames for DS eggs. Another study focused on finding alternative materials as a substrate for DS eggs to adhere to in the case that the egg frames need to be reproduced, testing burlap and garden fabric. It was found that there are many easily accessible, yet suitable materials that DS eggs can adhere to.

The research presented demonstrates the potential of the wakasagi EFB as a feasible strategy for DS conservation. The research affirmed that DS eggs can successfully adhere, incubate, and hatch on a variety of different substrates at a hatching rate worse than in the incubators at the FCCL. These substrates were biodegradable and readily available at Home Depot, indicating their accessibility at common stores.

This study also revealed the sensitivity of DS eggs to changes in environmental changes, particularly when unsubmerged and experiencing different humidities. This underlines the imperative to maintain constant aquatic conditions during transportation to the deployment site to ensure higher egg hatching rates.

# **6.2** Conclusion

This research substantiates that the wakasagi EFB created by the LSFC can potentially serve as a suitable candidate to facilitate the hatching of DS larvae within the Delta. The research demonstrates that DS eggs can successfully adhere to the wakasagi egg frames under water flow velocities found when simulating conditions inside the EFB, incorporating real parameters from the Delta. Furthermore, when testing these conditions on fertilized DS eggs in a lab environment, the eggs were able to hatch using the water flow velocities observed from the CFD simulations. The incubation and maintenance procedures conducted by the LSFC could similarly be implemented at the FCCL.

Another study also showed that biodegradable materials for creating additional egg frames can be conveniently sourced from any home improvement store. Two materials, burlap, and garden fabric were tested against the control and showed no difference in DS egg survival and hatching rate.

One study helped determine how to transport the EFB from the FCCL to the deployment area. The study concluded that DS eggs should be kept submerged under water when being transported. The studies showed that when comparing fertilized DS eggs that have been left unsubmerged for various hours (3-5) to fertilized DS eggs kept fully submerged for the entire incubation duration, the unsubmerged eggs were heavily affected by being left unsubmerged. As DS are a fully aquatic fish, with no adaptation in themselves as well as their eggs, it should not be a surprise that the eggs should be kept submerged for the entire transportation process to the deployment to optimize egg hatching rate.

# **6.3 Recommendations**

After determining the feasibility of the wakasagi EFB for use on DS eggs, the next step should be to determine where the EFB should be deployed. From the article written by Kurobe et al., (2022), using the Spring Kodiak Trail (SKT), a yearly survey taking place from January to May to determine the relative abundance and distribution of spawning DS in the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta, it can be seen that Cache Slough is the area that all of the ripe female DS were found in. Another valuable piece of information from Kurobe et al., (2022), was that a majority of the ripe female DS found in Cache slough was in the month of February. Water quality data such as water depth and flow rate can then be extrapolated from two stations found in and around the slough. The first station, 11455385, is located upstream from the Cache slough, and the

second station, 11455420, is located downstream from it, as seen in Figure 6.1. Using the flow rate and water depth data from the stations, the flow velocity can be determined using the following equation:

$$Q = AV$$

where Q is the volumetric flow rate (m<sup>3</sup>/s), V for the water velocity (m/s), and A is the crosssectional area of flow (m<sup>2</sup>). Using the water velocity for February 2020-2022, a figure can be created for each year, overlaying the water velocity from each station to determine the better location to deploy the EFB as diagramed in Figures 6.2, 6.3, and 6.4. From the graphs, it can be seen that the water velocity in the first station, 11455385, would have more adequate flows suited for hatching DS eggs, while the second station would not have the adequate flows. With this information, the most suitable location to deploy the EFB would be near the first station.

Next, to quantify the water velocity further, to find the best 4-day span to deploy the EFB, each flow velocity data was given a value depending on the respective velocity as shown the following table:

V>60cm/s → 1 V>50cm/s → 0.75 V>25cm/s → 0.4 V>10cm/s → 0.1 V<10cm/s → 0



Figure 6.1: Water Stations 11455385 and 11455420 located around Cache Slough.



Figure 6.2: Mean flow velocity for discharge in cm/s for stations 11455385 (blue) and 11455420 (orange) for February 2020.



Figure 6.3: Mean flow velocity for discharge in cm/s for stations 11455385 (blue) and 11455420 (orange) for February 2021.



Figure 6.4: Mean flow velocity for discharge in cm/s for stations 11455385 (blue) and 11455420 (orange) for February 2022.

The values are inputted into a linear graph on excel (Figure 6.5) to determine which days would be the best to deploy the EFB. The best 4-day span to deploy the EFB should be able to be hypothesized using this information.


Figure 6.5: Linear graph to determine which days would be the best to deploy the egg frame box.

### References

- Baskerville-Bridges, B., Lindberg, J. C., & Doroshov, S. I. (2005). Manual for the intensive culture of delta smelt (Hypomesus transpacificus). *Report to CALFED Bay-Delta Program*.
- Benjamin, A., Sağlam, İ. K., Mahardja, B., Hobbs, J., Hung, T.-C., & Finger, A. J. (2018). Use of single nucleotide polymorphisms identifies backcrossing and species misidentifications among three San Francisco estuary osmerids. *Conservation Genetics*, 19(3), 701–712. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10592-018-1048-9
- Bennett, W. A., & Burau, J. R. (2015). Riders on the Storm: Selective Tidal Movements Facilitate the Spawning Migration of Threatened Delta Smelt in the San Francisco Estuary. *Estuaries and Coasts*, 38(3), 826–835. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12237-014-9877-3
- Bush, E., & Hobbs, J. (2017). *Migratory life histories and early growth of the endangered delta smelt*. https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.19204.42888
- Dannevig, H. (1895). The influence of temperature on the development of the eggs of fishes. *Rep. Fish. Board Scotl*, *13*, 147–152.
- Davis, B., Adams, J., Lewis, L., Hobbs, J., Ikemiyagi, N., Johnston, C., Mitchell, L., Shakya, A., & Schreier, B. (2022). Wakasagi in the San Francisco Bay Delta Watershed: Comparative Trends in Distribution and Life-History Traits with Native Delta Smelt. *San Francisco Estuary and Watershed Science*, 20(3). https://doi.org/10.15447/sfews.2022v20iss3art2
- Davoren, W. T., & Ayres, J. E. (1984). Past and Pending Decisions Controlling San Francisco Bay and Delta. *Water Science and Technology*, 16(3–4), 667–676. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.1984.0101
- Dong, G. H., Zheng, Y. N., Gui, F. K., Teng, B., & Li, Y. C. (2009). Research on the Float Collar of a Gravity Fish Cage. *Engineering Applications of Computational Fluid Mechanics*, 3(3), 430–444. https://doi.org/10.1080/19942060.2009.11015281
- DWR Public Affairs Office. (2002, December 31). The State Water Project Today.
- Ellison, L., Rahman, M. M., Finger, A. J., Sandford, M., Hsueh, C., Schultz, A. A., & Hung, T. (2023). Size, fecundity and condition factor changes in endangered delta smelt *Hypomesus transpacificus* over 10 generations in captivity. *Aquaculture, Fish and Fisheries*, 3(4), 353– 365. https://doi.org/10.1002/aff2.116
- Fisch, K. M., Mahardja, B., Burton, R. S., & May, B. (2014). Hybridization between delta smelt and two other species within the family Osmeridae in the San Francisco Bay-Delta. *Conservation Genetics*, 15(2), 489–494. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10592-013-0555-y
- Fujikawa, Y., & Katayama, S. (2014). Spawning Grounds and Season of Pond Smelt
   <I>Hypomesus nipponensis</I> in Lakes Shinji and Nakaumi, Japan. *Aquaculture Science*, 62(4), 375–384. https://doi.org/10.11233/aquaculturesci.62.375
- Hasenbein, M., Komoroske, L. M., Connon, R. E., Geist, J., & Fangue, N. A. (2013). Turbidity and Salinity Affect Feeding Performance and Physiological Stress in the Endangered Delta Smelt. *Integrative and Comparative Biology*, 53(4), 620–634. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/ict082

- Hindar, K., Ryman, N., & Utter, F. (1991). Genetic Effects of Cultured Fish on Natural Fish Populations. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 48(5), 945–957. https://doi.org/10.1139/f91-111
- Hobbs, J. A., Lewis, L. S., Willmes, M., Denney, C., & Bush, E. (2019). Complex Life Histories Discovered in a Critically Endangered Fish. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 16772. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-52273-8
- Hung, T., Rosales, M., Kurobe, T., Stevenson, T., Ellison, L., Tigan, G., Sandford, M., Lam, C., Schultz, A., & Teh, S. (2019). A pilot study of the performance of captive-reared delta smelt Hypomesus transpacificus in a semi-natural environment. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 95(6), 1517–1522. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfb.14162
- Japan Travel. (n.d.). *Wakasagi Fishing*. Retrieved September 20, 2023, from https://www.japan.travel/en/sports/snow/snow-travel/wakasagi-fishing/
- Kolden, E., Fox, B. D., Bledsoe, B. P., & Kondratieff, M. C. (2016). Modelling Whitewater Park Hydraulics and Fish Habitat in Colorado. *River Research and Applications*, *32*(5), 1116– 1127. https://doi.org/10.1002/rra.2931
- Kostow, K. (2009). Factors that contribute to the ecological risks of salmon and steelhead hatchery programs and some mitigating strategies. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries*, *19*(1), 9–31. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11160-008-9087-9
- Kurobe, T., Hammock, B. G., Damon, L. J., Hung, T.-C., Acuña, S., Schultz, A. A., & Teh, S. J. (2022). Reproductive strategy of Delta Smelt Hypomesus transpacificus and impacts of drought on reproductive performance. *PLOS ONE*, *17*(3), e0264731-. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0264731
- Lake Suwa Fishing Collective. (n.d.). *Egg Management Technology Guide Lake Suwa [卵管理 技術ガイド-諏訪湖]*.
- Lindberg, J. C., Tsai, Y.-J. J., Kammerer, B. D., Baskerville-Bridges, B., & Hung, T.-C. (2020). Spawning Microhabitat Selection in Wild-Caught Delta Smelt Hypomesus transpacificus under Laboratory Conditions. *Estuaries and Coasts*, 43(1), 174–181. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12237-019-00672-5
- Lindberg, J., Tigan, G., Ellison, L., Rettinghouse, T., Nagel, M., & Fisch, K. (2013). Aquaculture Methods for a Genetically Managed Population of Endangered Delta Smelt. *North American Journal of Aquaculture*, 75. https://doi.org/10.1080/15222055.2012.751942
- Liu, H.-Y., Huang, X.-H., Wang, S.-M., Hu, Y., Yuan, T., & Guo, G.-X. (2019). Evaluation of the structural strength and failure for floating collar of a single-point mooring fish cage based on finite element method. *Aquacultural Engineering*, 85, 32–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaeng.2018.12.007
- Martin, K., Bailey, K., Moravek, C., & Carlson, K. (2011). Taking the Plunge: California Grunion Embryos Emerge Rapidly with Environmentally Cued Hatching. *Integrative and Comparative Biology*, 51(1), 26–37. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/icr037

- Martin, K. L. M., Van Winkle, R. C., Drais, J. E., & Lakisic, H. (2004). Beach-Spawning Fishes, Terrestrial Eggs, and Air Breathing. *Physiological and Biochemical Zoology*, 77(5), 750– 759. https://doi.org/10.1086/421755
- Miller, W. J., Manly, B. F. J., Murphy, D. D., Fullerton, D., & Ramey, R. R. (2012). An Investigation of Factors Affecting the Decline of Delta Smelt (Hypomesus transpacificus) in the Sacramento-San Joaquin Estuary. *Reviews in Fisheries Science*, 20(1), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1080/10641262.2011.634930
- Mizuno, S., Teranishi, T., Sasaki, N., & Koide, N. (2010). Effects of Treatment Using Unbaked Scallop Shell Powder Suspension on Eliminating Egg Adhesiveness, Hatching Rate and Larval Quality in Japanese Smelt (Hypomesus nipponensis) Eggs. https://api.semanticscholar.org/CorpusID:88980449
- Moyle, P. B., Herbold, B., Stevens, D. E., & Miller, L. W. (1992). Life History and Status of Delta Smelt in the Sacramento-San Joaquin Estuary, California. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, 121(1), 67–77. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8659(1992)121<0067:LHASOD>2.3.CO;2
- Moyle, P. B., Hobbs, J. A., & Durand, J. R. (2018). Delta Smelt and Water Politics in California. *Fisheries*, 43(1), 42–50. https://doi.org/10.1002/fsh.10014
- Moyle, P., Brown, L., Durand, J., & Hobbs, J. (2016). Delta Smelt: Life History and Decline of a Once-Abundant Species in the San Francisco Estuary. San Francisco Estuary and Watershed Science, 14(2). https://doi.org/10.15447/sfews.2016v14iss2art6
- Murphy, D., & Hamilton, S. (2013). Eastward Migration or Marshward Dispersal: Exercising Survey Data to Elicit an Understanding of Seasonal Movement of Delta Smelt. San Francisco Estuary and Watershed Science, 11(3). https://doi.org/10.15447/sfews.2013v11iss3art12
- Parker, V. T., Callaway, J. C., Schile, L. M., Vasey, M. C., & Herbert, E. R. (2011). Climate Change and San Francisco Bay–Delta Tidal Wetlands. *San Francisco Estuary and Watershed Science*, 9(3). https://doi.org/10.15447/sfews.2011v9iss3art3
- Pauly, D., & Pullin, R. S. V. (1988). Hatching time in spherical, pelagic, marine fish eggs in response to temperature and egg size. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, 22(4), 261–271. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00004892
- Peterson, M. I., Kitano, S., & Ida, H. (2021). Resident spawning of Japanese smelt, Hypomesus nipponensis, along gravel shorelines in Lake Nojiri, Central Japan. *Landscape and Ecological Engineering*, 17(4), 547–554. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11355-021-00462-x
- Poff, N. L., Allan, J. D., Bain, M. B., Karr, J. R., Prestegaard, K. L., Richter, B. D., Sparks, R. E., & Stromberg, J. C. (1997). The Natural Flow Regime. *BioScience*, 47(11), 769–784.
- Rajabzadeh, A. R., Legge, R. L., & Weber, K. P. (2015). Multiphysics modelling of flow dynamics, biofilm development and wastewater treatment in a subsurface vertical flow constructed wetland mesocosm. *Ecological Engineering*, 74, 107–116. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2014.09.122

- Sasaki, T., Saruwatari, T., & Watanabe, S. (2003). Spawning Ecology of Anadromous Wakasagi, Hypomesus nipponensis inhabiting Hei River in Iwate, Japan. *Aquaculture Science*, *51*(2), 141–150. https://doi.org/10.11233/aquaculturesci1953.51.141
- Schindelin, J., Arganda-Carreras, I., Frise, E., Kaynig, V., Longair, M., Pietzsch, T., Preibisch, S., Rueden, C., Saalfeld, S., Schmid, B., Tinevez, J.-Y., White, D. J., Hartenstein, V., Eliceiri, K., Tomancak, P., & Cardona, A. (2012). Fiji: an open-source platform for biological-image analysis. *Nature Methods*, 9(7), 676–682. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.2019
- Schneider, C. A., Rasband, W. S., & Eliceiri, K. W. (2012). NIH Image to ImageJ: 25 years of image analysis. *Nature Methods*, *9*(7), 671–675. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.2089
- Shen, Y., & Diplas, P. (2008). Application of two- and three-dimensional computational fluid dynamics models to complex ecological stream flows. *Journal of Hydrology*, 348(1–2), 195–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2007.09.060
- Singh, A. A., Sunoh, N., Niwa, S., Tokoro, F., Sakamoto, D., Suzuki, N., & Sakuramoto, K. (2015). Factors Affecting Japanese Pond Smelt (Hypomesus nipponensis) Stock Trajectory in Lake Kasumigaura and Kitaura. *Open Journal of Marine Science*, 05(02), 210–225. https://doi.org/10.4236/ojms.2015.52017
- Sommer, T., Armor, C., Baxter, R., Breuer, R., Brown, L., Chotkowski, M., Culberson, S., Feyrer, F., Gingras, M., Herbold, B., Kimmerer, W., Mueller-Solger, A., Nobriga, M., & Souza, K. (2007). The collapse of pelagic fishes in the upper San Francisco estuary. *Fisheries*, 32(6), 270–277. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8446(2007)32[270:TCOPFI]2.0.CO;2
- Sommer, T., Mejia, F., Nobriga, M., Feyrer, F., & Grimaldo, L. (2011). The Spawning Migration of Delta Smelt in the Upper San Francisco Estuary. San Francisco Estuary and Watershed Science, 9(2). https://doi.org/10.15447/sfews.2014v9iss2art2
- Swanson, C., Reid, T., Young, P. S., & Cech Jr, J. J. (2000). Comparative environmental tolerances of threatened delta smelt (Hypomesus transpacificus) and introduced wakasagi ( H. nipponensis) in an altered California estuary. *Oecologia*, 123(3), 384–390. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004420051025
- Swanson, C., Young, P. S., & Cech Jr, J. J. (1998). Swimming Performance of Delta Smelt: Maximum Performance, And Behavioral And Kinematic Limitations On Swimming At Submaximal Velocities. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 201(3), 333–345. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.201.3.333
- Tsai, Y. J., Chase, S. N., & Hung, T. (2021). Validating the use of sodium hypochlorite for egg detachment and photograph-based egg counting in Delta Smelt. *Aquaculture Research*, 52(11), 5936–5940. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.15472
- Tsai, Y. J., Ellison, L., Stevenson, T., Mulvaney, W. J., Carson, E. W., & Hung, T. (2022).
  Evaluating the Performance of a Small-Scale Culture System for Delta Smelt. *North American Journal of Aquaculture*, 84(3), 370–380. https://doi.org/10.1002/naaq.10247

Tsai, Y.-J., Chase, S. N., Carson, E. W., Zweig, L., & Hung, T.-C. (2022). Delta Smelt (Hypomesus transpacificus) Exhibit Wide Variation in Spawning Behavior: An Investigation of Substrate Type, Diel Timing, and Participants. *Estuaries and Coasts*, 45(5), 1480–1489. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12237-021-01030-0

Watson, C., & Chapman, F. (1996). Artificial Incubation of Fish Eggs.

Xie Yuhao, & Li Bo. (1987). Observation on the Embryonic Development of Pond Smelt. *Journal of Fisheries of China*, 11(4), 307–314. jfcen/article/abstract/19870405

# Appendix

## **Appendix A : R Code for Analyses**

**Chapter 3 Code** 

#temp

#input data
TempData = read.csv("EggFrame\_Trial.csv", header = T)
names(TempData)
TempData\$Trial = as.factor(TempData\$Trial)
TempData\$Frame = as.factor(TempData\$Frame)
TempData\$Temp = as.factor(TempData\$Temp)
summary(TempData)
str(TempData)
head(TempData)

```
#Summary
aggregate(Fert~Temp,TempData, FUN = function(x) c(Mean =
mean(x),min=min(x),max=max(x),N=length(x)))
aggregate(D3_Viable~Temp,TempData, FUN = function(x) c(Mean =
mean(x),min=min(x),max=max(x),N=length(x)))
aggregate(D10_Viable~Temp,TempData, FUN = function(x) c(Mean =
mean(x),min=min(x),max=max(x),N=length(x)))
aggregate(D03.Total~Temp,TempData, FUN = function(x) c(Mean =
mean(x),min=min(x),max=max(x),N=length(x)))
aggregate(D10.Total~Temp,TempData, FUN = function(x) c(Mean =
mean(x),min=min(x),max=max(x),N=length(x)))
aggregate(Survival~Temp,TempData, FUN = function(x) c(Mean =
mean(x),min=min(x),max=max(x),N=length(x)))
```

#Fert by temp

FertMod = aov(Fert~Temp,data=TempData) Anova(FertMod)

# Survival By temp
FertMod2 = aov(Survival~Temp,data=TempData)
Anova(FertMod2)

# Tukey HSD test for Fert by Temp
tukey\_results\_Fert <- TukeyHSD(FertMod)</pre>

# View results
print(tukey\_results\_Fert)

# Tukey HSD test for Survival by Temp
tukey\_results\_Survival <- TukeyHSD(FertMod2)</pre>

# View results
print(tukey\_results\_Survival)

#Fert Plot Fertplotdata = summarySE(TempData, measurevar="Fert", groupvars=c("Temp"),na.rm = T)

```
TempFertplot = ggplot(Fertplotdata,aes(x=Temp,y=Fert))+
geom_bar(colour="black", fill="lightgrey", stat="identity")+
geom_errorbar(aes(ymin=Fert-se, ymax=Fert+se), width=.1,position=position_dodge(.25)) +
theme_classic()+ylab("Fertilization (%)")+xlab("Temperature (°C)") +
coord_cartesian(ylim=c(0,110))+
scale_y_continuous(expand = c(0,0),breaks=seq(0, 100, 20))+
theme(plot.title = element_text(face="bold", hjust=-0.15))
TempFertplot
```

```
tiff("TempFertPlot.tiff",width=1200,height=1200,res=300, compression ="lzw")
grid.arrange(TempFertplot,ncol=1)
dev.off()
```

#Surb Plot
Survivalplotdata = summarySE(TempData, measurevar="Survival", groupvars=c("Temp"),na.rm
= T)

Survivalplot = ggplot(Survivalplotdata,aes(x=Temp,y=Survival))+

```
geom_bar(colour="black", fill="lightgrey", stat="identity")+
geom_errorbar(aes(ymin=Survival-se, ymax=Survival+se),
width=.1,position=position_dodge(.25)) +
theme_classic()+ylab("Survival (%)")+xlab("Temperature (°C)") +
coord_cartesian(ylim=c(0,100))+
scale_y_continuous(expand = c(0,0),breaks=seq(0, 100, 20))+
theme(plot.title = element_text(face="bold", hjust=-0.15))
Survivalplot
tiff("TempSurvivalPlot.tiff",width=1200,height=1200,res=300, compression ="lzw")
grid.arrange(Survivalplot,ncol=1)
dev.off()
```

install.packages("multcompView")
library(multcompView)

signif\_letters\_Fert <- data.frame(Temp = c("15.5", "16.3", "17.6", "20.2", "20.7"), Letter = c("d", "d", "d", "e", "f")) signif\_letters\_Survival <- data.frame(Temp = c("15.5", "16.3", "17.6", "20.2", "20.7"), Letter = c("c", "b", "a", "c", "c"))

# Add the significance letters to your Fert plot

Survivalplot <- ggplot(Fertplotdata, aes(x=Temp, y=Survival)) +

geom\_bar(colour="black", fill="lightgrey", stat="identity") +

geom\_errorbar(aes(ymin=Survival-se, ymax=Survival+se), width=.1,

position=position\_dodge(.25)) +

geom\_text(data=signif\_letters\_Survival, aes(label=Letter, y=100), vjust=-1) + # Adjust y and vjust as needed

```
theme_classic() +
ylab("Survival (%)") +
xlab("Temperature (°C)") +
coord_cartesian(ylim=c(0, 100)) +
scale_y_continuous(expand = c(0, 0), breaks=seq(0, 100, 20)) +
theme(plot.title = element_text(face="bold", hjust=-0.15))
```

```
# Add the significance letters to your Survival plot
Survivalplot <- ggplot(Survivalplotdata, aes(x=Temp, y=Survival)) +
geom bar(colour="black", fill="lightgrey", stat="identity") +
```

```
geom_errorbar(aes(ymin=Survival-se, ymax=Survival+se), width=.1,
position=position dodge(.25)) +
 geom text(data=signif letters Survival, aes(label=Letter, y=100), vjust=-1) + # Adjust y and
vjust as needed
 theme_classic() +
 ylab("Survival (%)") +
 xlab("Temperature (°C)") +
 coord_cartesian(ylim=c(0, 100)) +
 scale_y_continuous(expand = c(0, 0), breaks=seq(0, 100, 20)) +
 theme(plot.title = element_text(face="bold", hjust=-0.15))
# significance letters to Fert plot
TempFert <- TempFert +
 geom_text(data=merge(Survivalplotdata, signif_letters_Survival, by="Temp"),
       aes(label=Letter, y=Survival+se), vjust=-1)
TempFert <- TempFert +
 theme(
  axis.title = element_text(size = 16),
  axis.text = element text(size = 14),
  plot.title = element text(size = 18)
 )
# Fert plot
Print(TempFertplot)
# significance letters to Survival plot
Survivalplot <- Survivalplot +
 geom_text(data=merge(Survivalplotdata, signif_letters_Survival, by="Temp"),
       aes(label=Letter, y=Survival+se), vjust=-1)
Survivalplot <- Survivalplot +
 theme(
  axis.title = element_text(size = 16),
  axis.text = element_text(size = 14),
  plot.title = element text(size = 18)
 )
```

# Survival plot
print(Survivalplot)

### **Chapter 4 Code**

```
setwd("C:/Users/brand/OneDrive/Desktop/egg frame")
```

#input data
substratetest = read.csv("chapter5stat.csv", header = T)
names(substratetest)

# ANOVA model

#Treatment Factor
substratetest\$Treatment <- as.factor(substratetest\$Treatment)
anova\_model <- aov(Fertilization.rate ~ Treatment, data = substratetest)</pre>

```
# substrate fertilization test D1
tukey_test_fert <- TukeyHSD(anova_model)</pre>
```

#placement D10 test
substratetest\$Placement <-as.factor(substratetest\$Placement)
anova\_model\_D10placement <- aov(D10\_Survival ~ Placement, data = substratetest)
tukey\_test\_D10placement <- TukeyHSD(anova\_model\_D10placement)</pre>

# Tukey test results
print(tukey\_test\_fert)

# substrate D15 survival test
anova\_model\_D15 <- aov(D15\_Survival ~ Treatment, data = substratetest)</pre>

tukey\_test\_D15 <- TukeyHSD(anova\_model\_D15)</pre>

# substrate D10 survival test
anova\_model\_D10 <- aov(D10\_Survival ~ Treatment, data = substratetest)</pre>

```
tukey_test_D10 <- TukeyHSD(anova_model_D10)
```

# Tukey Test results
print(tukey\_test\_D10)

```
# fertilization placement test day 1
substratetest$Placement <- as.factor(substratetest$Placement)</pre>
```

```
anova_model_placement <- aov(Fertilization.rate ~ Placement, data = substratetest)
```

```
tukey_test_placement <- TukeyHSD(anova_model_placement)
print(tukey_test_placement)</pre>
```

```
library(dplyr)
```

```
# Finding average and standard deviation
summary_table <- substratetest %>%
 group_by(Treatment) %>%
 summarise(
  Avg D1 Viable = mean(D1 Viable, na.rm = TRUE),
  SE_D1_Viable = sd(D1_Viable, na.rm = TRUE) / sqrt(n()),
  Avg_D1_Unviable = mean(D1_Unviable, na.rm = TRUE),
  SE_D1_Unviable = sd(D1_Unviable, na.rm = TRUE) / sqrt(n()),
  Avg_D5_Viable = mean(D5_Viable, na.rm = TRUE),
  SE_D5_Viable = sd(D5_Viable, na.rm = TRUE) / sqrt(n()),
  Avg_D5_Unviable = mean(D5_Unviable, na.rm = TRUE),
  SE D5 Unviable = sd(D5 \text{ Unviable, na.rm} = TRUE) / sqrt(n()),
  Avg D10 Viable = mean(D10 Viable, na.rm = TRUE),
  SE_D10_Viable = sd(D10_Viable, na.rm = TRUE) / sqrt(n()),
  Avg_D10_Unviable = mean(D10_Unviable, na.rm = TRUE),
  SE_D10_Unviable = sd(D10_Unviable, na.rm = TRUE) / sqrt(n()),
  Avg_D15_Viable = mean(D15_Viable, na.rm = TRUE),
  SE_D15_Viable = sd(D15_Viable, na.rm = TRUE) / sqrt(n()),
  Avg_D15_Unviable = mean(D15_Unviable, na.rm = TRUE),
  SE_D15_Unviable = sd(D15_Unviable, na.rm = TRUE) / sqrt(n())
 )
```

# Print summary table
print(summary\_table)

# Check for normality
shapiro.test(residuals(anova\_model))

#Check for variance
shapiro.test(residuals(anova\_model\_D10))
bartlett.test(Fertilization.rate ~ Treatment, data = substratetest)

hist(residuals(anova\_model\_D10)) qqnorm(residuals(anova\_model\_D10)) qqline(residuals(anova\_model\_D10))

kruskal.test(D10\_Survival ~ Treatment, data = substratetest)
install.packages(dunn.test)
dunn.test(substratetest\$D10\_Survival, substratetest\$Treatment, method = "bonferroni")

kruskal.test(Fertilization.rate ~ Treatment, data = substratetest)
library(dunn.test)
dunn.test(substratetest\$Fertilization.rate, substratetest\$Treatment, method = "bonferroni")

hist(residuals(anova\_model))
qqnorm(residuals(anova\_model))
qqline(residuals(anova\_model))

anova\_model\_log <- aov(log\_fertilization\_rate ~ Treatment, data = substratetest) summary(anova\_model\_log)

hist(residuals(anova\_model\_log))
qqnorm(residuals(anova\_model\_log))
qqline(residuals(anova\_model\_log))

kruskal.test(Fertilization.rate ~ Treatment, data = substratetest)

**Chapter 5 Code** 

### #Humidity3H

```
#input data
Humid3Data = read.csv("humidity3H.csv", header = T)
names(Humid3Data)
```

**#Tukey Test** 

#convert humidity to factor variable
Hatch3Mod <- aov(Hatching.rate ~ Humidity, data = Humid3Data)
summary(Hatch3Mod)</pre>

# shapiro wilk test
shapiro.test(residuals(Hatch3Mod))

# Bartlett Test for Homogeneity of Variances bartlett\_test <- bartlett.test(Hatching.rate ~ Humidity, data = Humid3Data) print(bartlett\_test)

```
hist(residuals(Hatch3Mod))
qqnorm(residuals(Hatch3Mod))
qqline(residuals(Hatch3Mod))
```

#Kruskal-Wallis test
kruskal.test(Hatching.rate ~ Humidity, data = Humid3Data)

```
dunn_3h <- dunn.test(Humid3Data$Hatching.rate, g = Humid3Data$Humidity, method =
"bonferroni")
print(dunn_3h)</pre>
```

#tukey
TukeyTest <- TukeyHSD(Hatch3Mod)
print(TukeyTest)</pre>

# Create lettering for figure
text\_data <- data.frame(
 x = c(1, 2, 3, 4, 5),
 y = c(0.95, 0.95, 0.95, 0.95, 0.95),</pre>

```
label = c("a", "b", "c", "a", "a")
```

```
# Create the box and whiskers plot
ggplot(data = Humid3Data, aes(x = Humidity, y = Hatching.rate)) +
geom_boxplot(colour="black", fill="lightgrey") +
theme_classic() +
ylab("Hatching Rate (%)") +
xlab("Humidity Levels (%)") +
coord_cartesian(ylim=c(0,1)) +
scale_y_continuous(expand = c(0,0), breaks=seq(0, 1, 0.2), labels = scales::percent(seq(0, 1,
0.2))) +
theme(plot.title = element_text(face="bold", hjust=-0.15)) +
geom_text(data = text_data, aes(x = x, y = y, label = label))
```

#Humidity5H

```
#input data
Humid5Data = read.csv("humidity5H.csv", header = T)
names(Humid5Data)
```

#Tukey Test

#convert humidity to factor variable
Hatch5Mod <- aov(Hatching.rate ~ Humidity, data = Humid5Data)
summary(Hatch5Mod)</pre>

```
TukeyTest <- TukeyHSD(Hatch5Mod)
print(TukeyTest)
```

# shapiro wilk test
shapiro.test(residuals(Hatch5Mod))

```
# Bartlett Test for Homogeneity of Variances
bartlett_test <- bartlett.test(Hatching.rate ~ Humidity, data = Humid5Data)
print(bartlett_test)
```

```
hist(residuals(Hatch5Mod))
qqnorm(residuals(Hatch5Mod))
```

```
qqline(residuals(Hatch5Mod))
```

#Kruskal-Wallis test
kruskal.test(Hatching.rate ~ Humidity, data = Humid5Data)

dunn\_5h <- dunn.test(Humid5Data\$Hatching.rate, g = Humid5Data\$Humidity, method =
"bonferroni")
print(dunn\_5h)</pre>

```
#box and whiskers plot
ggplot(data = Humid5Data, aes(x = Humidity, y = Hatching.rate)) +
geom_boxplot(colour="black", fill="lightgrey") +
theme_classic() +
ylab("Hatching Rate (%)") +
xlab("Humidity Levels (%)") +
coord_cartesian(ylim=c(0,1)) +
scale_y_continuous(expand = c(0,0), breaks=seq(0, 1, 0.2), labels = scales::percent(seq(0, 1, 0.2))) +
theme(plot.title = element_text(face="bold", hjust=-0.15)) +
geom_text(aes(x = c(1, 2, 3, 4, 5), y = c(0.95, 0.95, 0.95, 0.95, 0.95), label = c("a", "b", "c", "d",
"a")))
```

```
# Create a data frame for the annotations
annotation_data <- data.frame(
Humidity = c("100", "80", "60", "40", "control"),
y = c(0.95, 0.95, 0.95, 0.95, 0.95),
label = c("a", "b", "c", "d", "a")
)</pre>
```

```
# Create the plot
ggplot(data = Humid5Data, aes(x = Humidity, y = Hatching.rate)) +
geom_boxplot(colour="black", fill="lightgrey") +
theme_classic() +
ylab("Hatching Rate (%)") +
xlab("Humidity Levels (%)") +
coord_cartesian(ylim=c(0,1)) +
```

scale\_y\_continuous(expand = c(0,0), breaks=seq(0, 1, 0.2), labels = scales::percent(seq(0, 1, 0.2))) +

theme(plot.title = element\_text(face="bold", hjust=-0.15)) +

geom\_text(data = annotation\_data, aes(x = Humidity, y = y, label = label))